
 

 

 
 
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take 
no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy 
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising 
from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement. 

The unaudited financial information relating to the year ended 31 December 2017 and the 
financial information relating to the year ended 31 December 2016 included in this announcement 
do not constitute the statutory annual consolidated financial statements of the Group for those 
years but is derived from those financial statements. Further information relating to these 
statutory financial statements required to be disclosed in accordance with section 436 of the 
Companies Ordinance is as follows:  

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 have yet to be reported on by the 
Group’s auditor and will be delivered to the Registrar of Companies in due course. 

The Group has delivered the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 to the 
Registrar of Companies as required by section 662(3) of, and Part 3 of Schedule 6 to the 
Companies Ordinance.  

The Group's auditor has reported on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2016. The auditor's report was unqualified, did not include a reference to any matters 
to which the auditor drew attention by way of emphasis without qualifying its report; and did not 
contain a statement under sections 406(2), 407(2) or (3) of the Companies Ordinance. 

 

Yunfeng Financial Group Limited 
雲鋒金融集團有限公司 

 (Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability) 

(Stock Code: 376) 

 
ANNUAL RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 

The Board of Directors of Yunfeng Financial Group Limited announces herewith the 
consolidated financial results of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 
December 2017 as follows:  
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CEO's Statement 
 
We believe year 2017 was one of the best performing years in terms of global economy 
and also a year of turning point for the Hong Kong financial market. During the year, the 
Company continued to improve its financial technology business and established its 
presence in the insurance industry while increasing its market influence. The business 
lines generated a synergistic effect. The asset end created distinctive product lines. The 
user end achieved an echelon from institutional customers and high-net-worth customers 
to retail customers. In 2018, the Company will continue to make breakthroughs in the 
differentiation of financial services and strive to achieve rapid growth in the number of 
customers and asset size. 

Riding the Wave Amidst the Global Economic Recovery Tide 
 
In 2017, the expansion of the U.S. economy accelerated. Europe saw a temporary 
pause in political “Black Swan”. Benefiting from a pickup in the global trade recovery, 
emerging markets got out of the recession caused by the bear market for bulk 
commodities. The economy of China gained ground and recovered, with its growth 
exceeding market expectations. 
 
The recovery of the economy has brought about an improvement in corporate profits. In 
2017, global stock markets ushered in a bullish spectacle. This year, stock markets in 
developed regions rose by more than 20%, among them the U.S. stock market ushered 
in the eye-catching performance after the crisis, with the Dow Jones Index rising by 24%. 
Among the emerging markets, the Hong Kong stock market posted remarkable 
performance, with the Hang Seng Index rising by more than 37%. The MSCI China 
Index covering Chinese concept stocks listed in the United States soared by 51%. 
 
The opening of the big era for the Hong Kong stock market cannot be separated from a 
pickup in the economy of China, and even more, is inseparable from the in-depth and 
frequent interactions between the Mainland and overseas markets. With the help of 
Hong Kong Stock Connect, “North Capital” has become a force that cannot be ignored in 
the Hong Kong stock market. The main board reform plan and the policy of the full 
circulation of H shares launched by the HKEx at the end of the year will bring even more 
vitality to the market. The business lines of the Company are ready for ushering in a new 
era of capital access with Hong Kong as a bridge. 

Review of the Business Development of the Company in 2017 
 
In 2017, the business lines of the Company continued to lay a solid foundation. All 
product APPs were officially launched, and functions and experience were continuously 
improved amidst customers’ feedback. 
 
Youyu Stock achieved the iteration of 10 versions with a substantial improvement in user 
experience. The Hong Kong stock investment simulation system self-developed by the 
team covers derivatives and played an active role in educating investors at the Hong 
Kong stock investment simulation contest supported by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. 
Meanwhile, functions such as bank securities transfer and IPO shares subscription were 
successively launched, making customer transactions more convenient. 
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Youyu Wealth was updated for 11 versions and entered into distribution agreements with 
a total of 18 global fund managers. More than 300 selected funds were launched on the 
platform. Youyu Wealth broke through the restrictions of lacking customized functions 
and financial expertise for existing similar products in the market. The team established 
a database for as many as 10,000 mutual funds registered in Hong Kong and carried out 
screening and rating by adopting the five-dimensional model and conducting interviews 
with managers so that retail investors and professional investors without global 
investment experience can receive tailor-made services. 
 
The ESOP Admin (Employee Stock Ownership Plan Administration) business line 
established a solid customer base in 2017. Tailor-made and automated services won 
very high recognition from customers and increased the working efficiency of the HR and 
finance departments of corporate customers. 
 
Breakthroughs have also been made in the offline products of wealth management. The 
three private equity funds of funds correspond to three different types of alternative credit 
investment respectively, and were actively subscribed by institutional investors and high 
net worth customers, raising more than HKD1 billion. Meanwhile, the Company and 
Chinese state-owned bank co-issued the first note with bank loans as the underlying 
assets, which made up the market gap. The differentiation of offline products has 
reflected the Company’s ability to invest in international markets and innovate products.  
 
Corporate finance team provided advisory services to 23 corporate clients in addition to 
providing financial advisory services on the Group’s acquisition of the share capital of 
MassMutual Asia Limited. We are committed to providing high quality corporate finance 
advisory services to our clients and our corporate finance team will continue to focus on 
providing advisory work in respect of mergers and acquisitions and fund raising activities 
as well as providing in-house support to the Group’s other lines of business. 
 
The asset allocation plan provided by the investment research team to customers in 
2017 demonstrated the team’s ability to make decisions on global investment. The timely 
tracking of market focuses and the in-depth analysis of industries and individual 
companies struck a balance between professionalism and readability, winning 
unanimous favourable comments from both the industry and non-professionals. Its 
influence on new media platforms such as WeChat and Zhihu was constantly expanding. 
 
In order to provide customers with better and more diversified financial services, the 
Company, together with other investors, initiated the acquisition of MassMutual Asia and 
issued a shareholders’ circular in December 2017. 
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Looking Forward to 2018 
 
The Company will further strengthen the integration advantages of internet technology 
and financial expertise, and actively cooperate with other financial institutions to enhance 
the financial service standard of the industry. In the meantime, the Company will 
continue to seek cross-sectoral cooperation opportunities and realize the vision of 
financial investment services entering the life scene. 
 
The brokerage business line will further strengthen characteristic services, especially 
information and investor education, to help customers make better investment decisions. 
For intelligent investment consulting, continued efforts will be made to increase new 
investment products and services, further reduce the investment barriers and provide 
institutionalized professional services to ordinary investors. Offline products will be 
continuously enriched and sales pipelines will be broadened. The ESOP Admin business 
line strives to achieve an explosive growth in the number of customers and enhance its 
interaction with other business lines. The Corporate Finance Department will actively 
pursue opportunities in the merger and acquisition sector and help customers to go 
global by fully leveraging its understanding of overseas markets. The Company will also 
strive to complete the transaction in relation to MassMutual Asia as soon as possible so 
as to realize synergetic development as soon as possible. 
 
2017 was the first year of the development of each new business line of Yunfeng 
Financial and we made a solid start. In the new year, we will carry forward our efforts to 
continuously promote innovation in financial technology, create distinctive services and 
build a one-stop online financial service platform. We will also actively seek partners to 
jointly drive the intelligence level of the financial services industry. In 2018, as the global 
monetary policy tightening cycle approaches, volatility in the financial market will 
increase dramatically. We will exercise stringent risk control and continue steady 
operation. I would like to express my gratitude to our shareholders for their patience and 
support, and would also like to express my gratitude to our partners and customers for 
their trust. 
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Management Discussion and Analysis 

Material event 

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 17 August 2017, the Company 
and the other Asia investors and MassMutual International LLC, entered into the Share 
Purchase Agreement pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to 
acquire 60% of the issued share capital of MassMutual Asia Limited. The portion of the 
consideration payable by the Company is HK$7,860 million of which HK$5,200 million 
will be satisfied by the issue of an aggregate of 800,000,000 shares of the Company at 
the issue price of HK$6.50 per share representing approximately 24.8% of the issued 
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the shares. 

On 21 December 2017, the Company issued a circular related to the above mentioned 
transaction to its shareholders.  The transaction was approved by the independent 
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on 10 January 2018 and the 
details were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 10 January 2018. 

The long term vision of the Group is to leverage its fintech capabilities to develop a 
financial services ecosystem comprising information technology and online and offline 
platforms that offer a broad range of financial services and products along with high 
quality expert advice. This transaction is a milestone for the Group’s integration of 
existing financial technology services and traditional insurance business as well as its 
growth into a large financial group. 

Overview 
 
The Group's major sources of revenue includes subscription fees and management fees 
for products launched by the Group, platform fees for distribution of third-parties 
products, administration fee for employees stock ownership plan management services, 
brokerage commission income and corporate advisory fee income, etc. In addition, the 
Group generates other operating income and gains from its own general capital. The 
Group is still in the process of building its client base and scale of asset under 
management. The Group’s revenue and other operating income and gains including 
disposal gain of available for sales investment were HK$21.1 million and HK$106.2 
million respectively, representing a decrease of 54.2% and an increase of 203.4% 
compared to the prior year respectively. The decrease of revenue was mainly 
attributable to the decrease of consultancy and advisory revenue and securities 
brokerage commission. However, the operating income (mainly derived from Group’s 
own capital fund management) increased significantly. 

The amortization expense in relation to share awards granted by the Company in 
January 2017 is recorded in year 2017. As disclosed in the announcement of the 
Company dated 17 August 2017, the legal and professional fees incurred in relation to 
the acquisition of 60% of the issued share capital of MassMutual Asia Limited are 
recorded in 2017. As the fair values of certain financial assets (measured at fair value 
through profit or loss) held and disposed by the Group in 2017 are lower than their 
values as at 31 December 2016, a net loss is recognised in 2017 as a result.  Taking into 
account of the above factors, the loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 
for the year is HK$379.0 million compared to HK$316.7 million in prior year.  
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Brokerage Business 

In 2017, the Group launched new version of “Youyu Stock” mobile application and 
upgraded the “Youyu Stock” website with the primary objective of improving the 
transaction process and presenting account information in a more concise manner. Our 
new user interface design for both the mobile application and the website is able to 1) 
enhance the stability of the market price quotation function 2) provide more 
comprehensive information on companies and 3) improve the user experiences. The 
Group proactively increases promotion effort of “Youyu Stock”. During the year, the 
turnover of brokerage business amounted to HK$1,539.9 million, representing a 
decrease of 36.3% as compared with prior year. 

Corporate Finance Consultancy Service 

The Group’s corporate finance business provides financial consultancy service primarily 
to Hong Kong listed companies. In 2017, the Group has completed 33 financial 
consultancy projects. During the year, this business segment recorded an income 
derived from external customer of HK$11.1 million, representing a decrease of 73.8% as 
compared with the prior year.   

Employee Stock Ownership Plan Administration 

In 2017, the Group launched the “Youyu ekeeper” website to provide employee stock 
ownership plan administration service and complete a system connection with our 
strategic partner. The long-term business plan is to develop the sustainable business 
model and create synergistic impact for other business lines. The external employees 
under the employee stock ownership plan administration service are able to open 
accounts and inject their assets with Youyu Stock and Youyu Wealth for investment 
purpose. Overall, the Group considers Youyu ekeeper to be able to provide positive 
impact to trading volume and amount of asset under securities brokerage business and, 
as well as enhance customer loyalty to other business line of the Group. 

Wealth Management 

The Group successfully launched the “Youyu Wealth” online mobile application in 2017.  
The application has received positive feedback and support from fund managers in the 
market as well as the social media. For the long-term development strategy, the “Youyu 
Wealth” mobile application will continue to enhance the fund product trading process and 
user experience by providing different investment performance data and up-to-date 
investment portfolio information. 
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On the other hand, our wealth management business has made substantive progress 
offline in fund management, investing and financing solution services. In 2017, the 
Group has offered the following three offline fund products for subscriptions: 

Name of offline fund 
products Investment focus 

  
Majik Access USD Fund 
1 LP 

Third-party managed private credit funds - directly or indirectly 

invest in credit and real estate-related debt market sectors 

Majik Access USD Fund 
2 LP 

Third-party managed distressed assets funds - specialising in 

different distressed credit strategies 

Majik Access USD Fund 
3 LP 

Third-party managed collateralised loan obligations - investing 

in senior secured first lien bank loans, second lien loans, 
unsecured loans, and other debt obligations 

For the above fund products, we continued to attract new professional investors. For 
further growth in offline wealth management operation, we have successfully locked in a 
handful of rare investment targets including credit linked note and distressed fund 
investment opportunities being managed by the top tier managers in the field.  As at 31 
December 2017, the total investment capital commitment of the three offline products 
amounted to US$151.3 million. 

General Capital Management 

The Group adopted the following capital usage and management strategies: 

1) To achieve positive synergies between the Company’s capital management and 
growth of its asset management business, and to facilitate external fundraising for 
such products, the Company intends to provide seed capital, as a direct investor or 
co-investor in fund products and high-quality early-stage private equity products 
developed by the Company; 

2) Used as standby capital to support the securities brokerage business and the 
securities financing business when needed; 

3) Towards acquisition or development of projects related to the Company’s personal 
wealth management business or financial technologies development or into 
opportunities that provide synergies with other businesses of the Company; and 

4) For better effectiveness and returns in respect of the Company’s capital 
management, and to improve cash flow management, the Company shall adopt a 
treasury management model that may involve (but shall not be limited to) holding 
fixed income instruments, high grade equity instruments and other financial 
investments. 
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For the year 2017, the use of Group’s general capital is as follows: 
 
HK$ million   

 

 

At 31 
December 

2017 

At 31  
December 

2016 Change 
    
Fixed bank deposits and cash (note 1) 3,544.7 4,164.7 -14.9% 
Mutual fund investment (note 2) 326.7 - - 
Fixed income type of investment (note 3) 77.3 75.4 2.5% 
Equity and option 5.9 210.3 -97.2% 
Majik Access USD Fund 1 LP 11.0 - - 
Majik Access USD Fund 2 LP (3.0) - - 
Majik Access USD Fund 3 LP 199.0 - - 
  

    
 

 4,161.6 4,450.4 -6.5% 
  

    
 

Note 1: The amount includes US$25 million committed for investing in Majik Access 
USD Fund 1 LP and US$19.5 million committed for investing in Majik Access 
USD Fund 2 LP. 

Note 2: This includes investments in five mutual fund investments managed by 
different fund management companies with abundant international investment 
experiences. The investment portfolio of the mutual funds mainly comprised of 
fixed income securities and equity, with a higher proportion being fixed-income 
securities. The mutual funds are liquid assets and can be converted into cash 
upon request. 

Note 3:  This includes perpetual capital. 
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Consolidated financial results review 

The financial highlights of the Group were as follows: 

Consolidated profit and loss analysis for the year ended 31 December 

HK$ million 
 
     
  2017 2016 Change 
     
Revenue  21.1 46.1 -54.2% 
Other operating income and gains  91.2 35.0 160.6% 
Disposal gains of available-for-

sales financial assets  15.0 - 
 

- 
Net loss on financial assets and 

financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss  (89.2) (75.7) 

 
 

17.8% 
Staff costs (excluding staff share 

award amortisation expense)  (190.4) (198.0) 
 

-3.8% 
Staff share award amortisation 

expense  (56.7) (2.1) 
 

26 times 
Depreciation and amortisation  (18.5) (8.0) 131.3% 
Finance cost  (9.5) (0.1) 94 times 
Other operating expenses 

(including net provision for 
impairment loss)   (141.2) (122.1) 

 
 

15.6% 

  
    

 
Loss before taxation  (378.2) (324.9) 16.4% 

Income tax  (1.1) 8.3 - 

  
    

 
Loss for the year  (379.3) (316.6) 19.8% 
 

     

Loss for the year attributable to:     
     
Equity shareholders of the 

Company  (379.0) (316.7) 
 

19.7% 

Non-controlling interests  (0.3) 0.1 - 

  
    

 
  (379.3) (316.6) 19.8% 
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Analysis on loss for the year 

 
  2017 2016 Change 

Loss for the year  (379.3) (316.6) 
 

19.8% 
Adjust for the following profit or 

loss and expenses impact:    
 

Less: Net loss on financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss  89.2 75.7 

 
 

17.8% 
Less: Staff share award 

amortisation expense  56.7 2.1 
 

26 times 

Less: Legal and professional fee 
for acquisition of MassMutual  47.3 - 

 

- 

  
    

 
  (186.1) (238.8) -22.1% 
 

    
 

Revenue 

For the year 2017, revenue amounted to HK$21.1 million, representing a 54.2% 
decrease compared to that of the prior year as follows:   
    
HK$ million    
    
 2017 2016 Change 
    
Brokerage commission 2.0 3.8 -47.4% 
Consultancy and advisory fees 11.1 42.3 -73.8% 

Subscription, management and rebate 
fees income 3.8 - 

 

- 

Interest income from loan receivable 3.7 - - 

Other service revenue 0.5 - - 

  
    

 
 21.1 46.1 -54.2% 
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Other operating income and gains 

For the year 2017, other operating income and gains amounted to HK$91.2 million, 
representing a 160.6% increase compared to that of the prior year as follows: 
    
HK$ million    
    
 2017 2016 Change 
    
Handling and settlement fees 2.3 0.5 3.6 times 
Bank and other interest income 72.5 32.9 120.4% 
Dividend and distribution income from 
available-for-sale financial assets 14.3 - 

 
- 

Other income 2.1 1.6 31.3% 
  

    
 

 91.2 35.0 160.6% 
  

    
 

Net loss on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss 

For the year 2017, the net loss on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss amounted to HK$89.2 million, representing 17.8% increase 
compared to that of prior year as follows: 

HK$ million 
    
 2017 2016 Change 
    
Net unrealised loss on financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss (16.8) (32.1) 
 

-47.7% 
Net realised loss on financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss (64.7) (43.6) 
 

48.4% 
Fair value change of financial liabilities at 

fair value through profit or loss (7.7) - - 
 

    
 

Total net loss on financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss (89.2) (75.7) 17.8% 
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The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss investments held by the Group are 
mainly listed equity instruments and derivative financial instruments.  When comparing 
the historical acquisition cost to the fair value of the financial assets, the net realised gain 
on financial asset would have been HK$73.1 million by the Group.  However, all the 
financial assets were recorded and measured at fair value through profit or loss.  For the 
year, the fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held as at 31 
December 2017 or disposed by the Group during the year were lower than their fair 
values as at 31 December 2016.  

Staff costs and staff share award amortisation expense 

For the year 2017, the staff costs amounted to HK$190.4 million and the amortisation of 
share based payment expense amounted to HK$56.7 million respectively. The staff cost 
decreased by 3.8% compared to last year.  

Other operating expenses 

For the year 2017, other operating expenses amounted to HK$141.2 million, 
representing a 15.6% increase compared to that of the prior year as follows: 

HK$ million 
    
 2017 2016 Change 
    
Information, data and communication 

expenses 33.0 30.5 
 

8.2% 
Legal and professional fee expenses 66.2 20.6 221.4% 
Operating lease and related charges in 

respect of properties  26.0 19.9 
 

30.7% 
Business promotion and marketing 

expenses 5.9 18.2 
 

-67.6% 
Net exchange (gain) loss (16.2) 3.6 - 
Net provision for impairment 2.1 8.2 -74.4% 
Others 24.2 21.1 14.7% 
 

    
 

 141.2 122.1 15.6% 
 

    
 

Legal and professional fee expenses increase mainly due to as the legal and 
professional fees incurred in relation to the acquisition of 60% of the issued share capital 
of MassMutual Asia Limited are recorded in 2017. 
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Changes in owner’s equity 

HK$ million 
 2017 2016   
     
Balance at 1 January 4,444.1 4,761.3   
Share based payment transaction  56.4 2.1   
Loss for the year (379.3) (316.5)   
Other comprehensive income and others 18.1 (2.8)   
 

      

Balance at 31 December 4,139.3 4,444.1   
 

      

       

Attributable to:     

- equity shareholders of the Company 4,139.3 4,443.0   

- non-controlling interests - 1.1   
 

      

Total equity 4,139.3 4,444.1   
 

      

The Group’s total shareholders’ equity amounted to approximately HK$4,139.3 
million as at 31 December 2017 as compared to the total shareholders’ equity of 
HK$4,444.1 million reported at the end of last year. The decrease is mainly due to the 
operating loss and the decrease in fair value of financial asset at fair value through profit 
or loss. 

Prospects  

 
The Company will further strengthen the integration advantages of internet technology 
and financial expertise, and actively cooperate with other financial institutions to enhance 
the financial service standard of the industry. In the meantime, the Company will 
continue to seek cross-sectoral cooperation opportunities and realize the vision of 
financial investment services entering the life scene. 
 
The brokerage business line will further strengthen characteristic services, especially 
information and investor education, to help customers make better investment decisions. 
For intelligent investment consulting, continued efforts will be made to increase new 
investment products and services, further reduce the investment barriers and provide 
institutionalized professional services to ordinary investors. Offline products will be 
continuously enriched and sales pipelines will be broadened. The ESOP Admin business 
line strives to achieve an explosive growth in the number of customers and enhance its 
interaction with other business lines. The Corporate Finance Department will actively 
pursue opportunities in the merger and acquisition sector and help customers to go 
global by fully leveraging its understanding of overseas markets. The Company will also 
strive to complete the transaction in relation to MassMutual Asia as soon as possible so 
as to realize synergetic development as soon as possible. 
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2017 was the first year of the development of each new business line of Yunfeng 
Financial and we made a solid start. In the new year, we will carry forward our efforts to 
continuously promote innovation in financial technology, create distinctive services and 
build a one-stop online financial service platform. We will also actively seek partners to 
jointly drive the intelligence level of the financial services industry. In 2018, as the global 
monetary policy tightening cycle approaches, volatility in the financial market will 
increase dramatically. We will exercise stringent risk control and continue steady 
operation. I would like to express my gratitude to our shareholders for their patience and 
support, and would also like to express my gratitude to our partners and customers for 
their trust. 

Liquidity and Financial Resources  

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had fixed bank deposits with original maturity over 3 
months and cash and cash equivalents amounting to HK$3,762.7 million (31 December 
2016: HK$4,164.7 million). The Group generally financed its daily operations with 
internal resources. As at 31 December 2017 and during the year of 2017, the Group has 

no bank or other external borrowings. 

Capital Structure 

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 
29 to the financial statements. 

Equity Price Risk 

The Group is exposed to market price changes from equity investments and derivative 
instruments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held by the 
Group.  Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss are dealt with in the consolidated income statement. On the 
other hand, the Group has invested in fund investments classified as available for sale 
financial assets with the fair value change going through reserve. The investment 
performance is monitored regularly as set out in note 33(e) to the financial statements, 
together with an assessment of its relevance to the Group’s strategic plans.  

Foreign Exchange Risk 

The Group has assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than its functional 
currency and that are subject to fluctuation in foreign exchange amounts in the different 
currencies. The Group is exposed to currency risk arising from various currency 
exposures mainly to the extent of its bank balances in US dollar (“USD”) and Renminbi 
as set out in note 33(d) to the financial statements. Management of the Group monitors 
the foreign exchange exposure and will hedge significant foreign currency exposure 
should the need arise. 

During the year 2017, the Group did not engage in the use of other financial instruments 
for hedging purposes, and there were no hedging instruments outstanding as at 31 
December 2017. 
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and Associates 

Except for those set out in note 15(c), the Group did not have any material 
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and associates during the year ended 31 
December 2017. 

Charges on Assets 

At the year ended December 2017, the Group did not have any charges on assets, 
other than a security deposit of HK$30 million (2016: HK$45.6 million) for banking 
facilities and a HK$78.1million bank deposit (2016: Nil) were deposited as collateral 
for performance linked note, a financial product, issued by the Group. 

Commitments 

Details of commitments are set out in note 31 to the financial statements. 

Segment information 

Details of segments are set out in note 12 to the financial statements. 

Contingent Liabilities 

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2017. 

Staffing and Remunerations 

As at 31 December 2017, the Group employed 240 (2016: 229) full time employees, 
96 (2016: 82) of which were located in Hong Kong, 2 (2016: 2) in the United States 
and 142 (2016: 145) in the People’s Republic of China. The remuneration of 
employees includes salary and discretionary bonus. The Group also adopted share 
option and share award schemes to provide an incentive to the employees. 

The remuneration policy and package, including the share option and share awards, 
of the Group’s employees are maintained at market level and reviewed annually by 
the management. 
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Use of net proceeds from subscription shares 

The proceeds from subscription shares have been utilised subsequent to the 
subscription as set out under the section "Use of Proceeds" of the Company’s circular 
dated 18 August 2015 (the “Circular”) and subsequent adjustment in use of proceeds as 
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 18 October 2016.  The below table 
sets out the proposed application of net proceeds after adjustments and usage up to 31 
December 2017: 

 

Use of 
Proceeds 

after 
adjustments 

Unutilised 
Proceeds up 

to 31 
December 

2016 

 Actual 
usage from 1 

January 
2017 to 31 
December 

2017 

Unutilised 
Proceeds up to 

31 December 
2017 

 HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million 
     
Setting up new 

branches and IT 
infrastructure 333.2 312.3 101.6 210.7 

Recruitment of 
professionals (note 1) 59.9 41.1 36.3 4.8 

Establishment of a 
private wealth 
management platform  
(note 2) 179.0 174.3 38.0 136.3 

Development of a 
financial services 
ecosystem  
(note 3) 135.0 120.8 12.0 108.8 

General capital 
management (note 4) 2,970.9 2,868.9 727.4 2,141.5 

 
 __       

Total: 3,678.0 3,517.4 915.3 2,602.1 
 

        

Notes: 

1. mainly utilised on the recruitment and employment of internet products and 
technology development professionals to assist on the expansion of retail 
brokerage businesses. 

2. mainly utilised on recruitment and employment of professionals specialising in 
asset and wealth management. 

3. mainly utilised on marketing and setting up of online sales platform. 

4. mainly utilised on seek capital provided for financial product launched by the 
Group, capital to support securities brokerage and financing business, investment 
holding for capital management purpose. 

Event after the Reporting Period 

Details of event after the reporting period are set out in note 40 to the financial 
statements. 
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 
Management 
 

Chairman 

 
Mr. Yu Feng, aged 54, was appointed as the Chairman and a non-executive Director of 
the Company and the chairman of Nomination Committee of the Company in November 
2015. Mr. Yu is the founder and chairman of Yunfeng Capital, a private equity firm 
founded by Mr. Yu together with other entrepreneurs in 2010. Mr. Yu served as an 
executive director of Media Asia Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 08075), a 
company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) from June 2011 to September 2015. Mr. Yu served as a 
non-executive director of Alibaba Health Information Technology Limited (stock code: 
00241), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from April 2014 to 
September 2015, a director of Huayi Brothers Media Corporation (stock code: 300027), 
a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, 
from August 2014 to June 2015 and a director of Shanghai Guangdian Electric Group 
Co., Ltd (stock code: 601616), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, from 
December 2010 to April 2014. Mr. Yu served as a co-chairman of Focus Media Holding 
Limited from February 2006 to May 2008 and as chairman and chief executive officer of 
Target Media Holdings Limited prior to its acquisition by Focus Media Holding Limited. 
 
Mr. Yu is a director of Yunfeng Financial Holdings Limited (“YFHL”), Key Imagination 
Limited (“Key Imagination”) and Jade Passion Limited (“Jade Passion), YFHL, Key 
Imagination and Jade Passion are substantial shareholders of the Company. 
 
Mr. Yu obtained an EMBA degree from China Europe International Business School, the 
PRC in March 2001 and a master of arts degree in philosophy from Fudan University, 
the PRC in July 1991. 

 

Executive Directors 
 
Ms. Li Ting, aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company in 
November 2015. Ms. Li is currently the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Ms. Li 
has over 20 years of experience in the financial industry, including fixed income and 
derivatives analytics, risk management, portfolio management, sales and market 
developments, and strategic planning and execution, in the U.S.A., the PRC and Hong 
Kong. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Li was a senior managing director and head of Asia 
ex-Japan of State Street Global Advisors.  
 
Ms. Li holds a bachelor’s degree in finance from Nankai University, the PRC, and a 
master’s degree in finance from Boston College, the U.S.A.. 
 
Mr. Huang Xin, aged 42, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company and a 
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company in November 2015. Mr. Huang 
is a partner and a member of the investment committee of Yunfeng Capital. Mr. Huang 
served as vice president of Shanghai Kaituo Capital Limited from 2006 to 2010, where 
he was in charge of various investments. Mr. Huang was vice president of finance at 
Target Media Holdings Limited from 2005 to 2006, where Mr. Huang managed its daily 
financial operations and led its equity financing and merger and integration with Focus 
Media Holding Limited. Mr. Huang worked at General Electric Company from 1997 to 
2005.  
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Mr. Huang is a director of Jade Passion, the substantial shareholder of the Company. 
 
Mr. Huang obtained a master of business administration degree from China Europe 
International Business School, the PRC in October 2011 and a bachelor’s degree in 
accounting from Fudan University, the PRC in July 1997. 

 

Non-Executive Directors 
 
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson, aged 66, joined the Board in August 2011 as an 
executive Director and has been re-designated from an executive Director to a non-
executive Director of the Company in April 2016. He was the Chairman of the Company, 
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration 
Committee of the Company until he resigned from these positions in November 2015.  
 
Mr. Ko beneficially holds 100% interest in Gainhigh Holdings Limited (“Gainhigh”). He is 
also a director of Gainhigh and Insula Holdings Limited, the substantial shareholders of 
the Company. Mr. Ko has been re-designated from an executive director to a non-
executive director of KuangChi Science Limited (stock code: 00439) on 16 May 2017. 
Currently, Mr. Ko is the deputy chairman and an executive director of Frontier Services 
Group Limited (stock code: 00500) and an independent non-executive director of Meitu, 
Inc. (stock code: 01357). Mr. Ko had also been the chairman and an executive director 
of BOE Varitronix Limited (Stock Code: 00710) until April 2016, and the vice chairman 
and an executive director of Concord New Energy Group Limited (Stock Code: 00182) 
until June 2015, the shares of which are all listed on the Stock Exchange.  
 
Mr. Ko has extensive experience in corporate finance, corporate restructuring, and 
mergers and acquisitions, and also has extensive experience in international trade, 
investment, media and technology businesses. 
 
Ms. Hai, Olivia Ou, aged 38, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the 
Company in November 2015. Ms. Hai is a managing director of Yunfeng Capital and 
specialises in investments related to the financial services industry. Prior to joining 
Yunfeng Capital, Ms. Hai was an actuarial partner at Deloitte China from 2012, and was 
engaged in the provision of consulting services to overseas and domestic insurance 
companies. Ms. Hai has also worked at HSBC Insurance (Asia) Limited in Hong Kong 
from 2010 to 2012 and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in the United Kingdom from 2002 
to 2010. 
 
Ms. Hai is a qualified fellow member of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries in the 
United Kingdom and is a board representative of both the Life Board and the Education 
Board of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries in the United Kingdom. She is also a 
fellow member of the China Association of Actuaries. 

 

Independent Non-Executive Directors 
 
Mr. Lin Lijun, aged 44, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the 
Company and a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee and the 
chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Company in November 2015. Mr. Lin 
was the founder of China Universal Asset Management Co., Ltd., an award-winning and 
diverse asset management company founded by Mr. Lin in April 2004 and at which he 
had served as chief executive officer until April 2015. Mr. Lin has extensive experience in 
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investment management as well as risk management. Mr. Lin is currently founder and 
partner of Loyal Valley Capital, a leading PE fund in China. 
 
Mr. Lin was appointed as a non-executive director of Wenzhou Kangning Hospital Co., 
Ltd (Stock code: 02120) on 14 June 2017, a company listed on the Stock Exchange. 
Currently, Mr. Lin is an independent non-executive director of TANSH Global Food 
Group Co., Ltd (Stock code: 03666), a company listed on the Stock Exchange. 
 
Mr. Lin obtained a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in economics from Fudan 
University, the PRC, in 1994 and 1997 respectively, and a master of business 
administration degree from Harvard University, the U.S.A. in 2003. 
 

Mr. Qi Daqing, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the 

Company, and a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and 

Remuneration Committee of the Company in February 2016. Mr. Qi is currently a 

professor of Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business. He previously served as 

director and associate dean of the executive master of business administration 

department. Mr. Qi’s research interests primarily focus on financial accounting, financial 

reporting and their impact on corporate business strategy. Mr. Qi has published many 

articles in accounting and finance journals. Mr. Qi worked at The Chinese University of 

Hong Kong and the Feature Syndicate of the Department of Home News for Overseas, 

Xinhua News Agency prior to joining Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in 

2002.  

 

Mr. Qi was appointed as an independent non-executive director of RoadShow Holdings 

Limited (stock code: 00888) on 21 November 2017, a company listed on the Stock 

Exchange. Currently Mr. Qi serves as independent director of Sohu.com Inc. (NASDAQ: 

SOHU), iKang Healthcare Group, Inc. (NASDAQ: KANG) and Momo Inc. (NASDAQ: 

MOMO), all of which are listed on NASDAQ; and independent non-executive director of 

SinoMedia Holding Limited (stock code: 00623) and Jutal Offshore Oil Services Limited 

(stock code: 03303), all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Qi served as an 

independent non-executive director of Honghua Group Limited (stock code: 00196) from 

18 January 2008 to 1 January 2018, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, and an 

independent non-executive director of Dalian Wanda Commercial Properties Co., Ltd. 

(stock code: 03699) from 29 January 2016 to 20 September 2016, a company delisted 

from the Stock Exchange on 20 September 2016. Mr. Qi had also been an independent 

director of Focus Media Holding Limited (NASDAQ: FMCN) and AutoNavi Holdings Ltd. 

(NASDAQ: AMAP), all of which were listed on NASDAQ, an independent director of 

Bona Film Group Limited which was listed on NASDAQ and ceased to be a public 

company in April 2016, and an independent director of China Vanke Co., Ltd.  (a 

company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000002; and listed on the 

Stock Exchange, stock code: 02202).  

 

Mr. Qi graduated with a doctoral degree in accounting from The Eli Broad Graduate 

School of Management of Michigan State University in the U.S.A. in 1996. He also 

obtained a master’s degree in management from University of Hawaii in the U.S.A in 

1992 and dual bachelor’s degrees (in biophysics and international news) from Fudan 

University in 1985 and 1987 respectively. 

 
 



Yunfeng Financial Group Limited 
Annual Results Announcement for the Year Ended 31 December 2017 

 

22 

 
Mr. Chu Chung Yue, Howard, aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the 
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company in August 
2011.  
 
Mr. Chu was the vice president, Asia and chief representative, China of Teck Resources 
Limited. Mr. Chu was responsible for the development of an Asian strategy for the 
company, monitoring China’s economic performance and promoting business 
development opportunities in China. Mr. Chu held various positions including corporate 
controller for Teck Resources Limited from 1978 to 2007 and was the vice president, 
Asia and chief representative, China from 2007 to April 2011.  
 
Mr. Chu holds a bachelor degree in commerce from University of British Columbia and 
was a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada.  

 

Senior Management 
 
Mr. John Maguire, aged 54, joined the Group in September 2011.  Mr. Maguire is the 
Head of Corporate Finance and Senior Managing Director of the Group. Prior to joining 
the Group, Mr. Maguire was the managing director and a co-founder of a boutique 
corporate finance firm from 2000 to 2011.  Before that, Mr. Maguire was, from 1995 to 
2000, an executive director in the corporate finance arm of an international broking and 
corporate finance group, responsible for the group’s corporate finance activities in Hong 
Kong and South East Asia. From 1991 to 1995, Mr Maguire worked as a solicitor in 
Hong Kong.  Prior to relocating to Hong Kong in 1991, Mr.. Maguire worked as a solicitor 
in the City of London. 
 
Mr. Maguire is a member of the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Maguire 
is a deputy chairman of the Takeovers and Mergers Panel and a member of the 
Takeovers Appeal Committee of the Securities and Futures Commission. Mr. Maguire is 
the chairman of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and a senior fellow of 
the Institute. Mr. Maguire is a member of the HKTDC Financial Services Advisory 
Committee and is a member of the Asian Financial Forum Steering Committee. 
 
Mr. Maguire is a solicitor admitted in England and Wales (non-practicing) and in Hong 
Kong.  Mr. Maguire is a member of the Law Society of Hong Kong’s Company Law 
Committee. 
 
Mr. Chan Man Ko, aged 43, joined the Group in November 2015, is the Chief Financial 

Officer, Company Secretary and a Senior Managing Director of the Group. Before joining 

the Group, Mr. Chan worked for China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited 

(stock code: 00966) for over 11 years and had served several positions including deputy 

general manager of finance department, chief financial officer and company secretary.  

Prior to this, he worked for Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for 7 years.   

Mr. Chan is an associate member of Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and 

Wales, and associate member and practicing member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants. 
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Ms. Li Yuan, aged 40, joined the Group in April 2016, is the Head of Wealth 
Management and a Senior Managing Director of the Group. Ms. Li has around 15 years’ 
experience in the asset management industry. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Li was the 
managing director of State Street Global Advisors in Hong Kong, leading both the sales 
and client services team to develop and maintain business relationships with financial 
institutions of North Asia. Before that, Ms. Li served as an executive director of the global 
portfolio investment department and the private equity department at Goldman Sachs 
(Tokyo) and Goldman Sachs (Hong Kong). Ms. Li has extensive experience in business 
development and excellent sales capability. Ms. Li has a deep insight in global assets 
allocation and multi-asset allocation strategy. Ms. Li is very skilled in designing and 
executing customized investment plans.  Ms. Li also has rich experience in creating 
investment strategies with quantitative models. She was also a member of an investment 
team with combined assets under management of approximately US$50 billion.  
 
Ms. Li graduated from Tokyo Institute of Technology, and obtained a Bachelor degree in 
Computer Science and a Master degree in Communication Engineering. 

 
Ms. Qin Li, aged 45, joined the Group in June 2017, is a Senior Managing Director of 
the Group. With nearly two decades of experience working in the PRC banking industry, 
Ms. Qin took up employment with China Investment Bank and China CITIC Bank 
respectively and took part in foreign government loans, custody, retailing, private 
banking and bank financial management businesses in their chronological order, thereby 
enjoying a wealth of experience in wealth management and asset management. Prior to 
joining the Group, Ms. Qin was an assistant to the general manager of the department of 
financial management business at the headquarter of China CITIC Bank, tasked with 
product development and investment management for the bank’s financial management 
business and leading a team with a portfolio of assets in excess of RMB 600 billion with 
the scope of investments covering debentures, stocks, derivatives, and alternative 
assets.  
 
Ms. Qin graduated from Nankai University in the PRC with a bachelor’s degree in 
finance and received her master’s degree in business administration from the University 
of Wyoming in the United States of America.  
 
Mr. HE Shiqiang, aged 48, joined the Group in September 2015, as Head of Head of I.T. 
and Operations. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. He was the head of operations of 
Shanghai-based Pacific Asset Management Co. 2013 to 2015. Before that, Mr. He 
worked, from 2009 to 2013, for Shanghai-based BNY Mellon Western Fund 
Management Co. as CTO, CRO and COO and served on the company supervisory 
board. Prior to moving to Shanghai, Mr. He worked in various technology and consulting 
roles in the U.S., including software architect for Maple Securities and senior consultant 
in PA Consulting Group. Mr. He received a B.S. degree from Peking University and a 
master degree from Massachusetts Institute of Technology. 
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Corporate Governance Report 
 
The board of directors (the “Board”) of Yunfeng Financial Group Limited (the “Company”) 
is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance. It believes that a 
high standard of corporate governance provides a framework and solid foundation for 
attracting and retaining high calibre and talented management, promoting high standards 
of accountability and transparency and meeting the expectations of all the shareholders 
of the Company (the “Shareholders”). 
 
The principles of corporate governance adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries 
(collectively the “Group”) stress the importance of a quality board, sound internal controls, 
and transparency and accountability to all the Shareholders. 
 
Throughout year ended 31 December 2017 (the “Year”), the Company has complied with 
the applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), as 
set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing 
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), except 
for certain deviations which are summarised below: 
 
(a) Code Provision A.4.1 
 
Code provision A.4.1 provides that non-executive directors should be appointed for a 
specific term, subject to re-election.  The Company deviates from this provision because 
the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors do not currently 
have specific terms of appointment. However, the articles of association of the Company 
states that one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if the number is not a multiple 
of three, then, the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office 
by rotation, provided that every Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation at 
least once every three years at each annual general meeting, and offer themselves for 
re-election.  As such, the Board considers that sufficient measures have been put in 
place to ensure the Company’s corporate governance practice in this aspect provides 
sufficient protection for the interests of Shareholders to a standard commensurate with 
that of the code. 
 
(b) Code Provision E.1.2 
 
Due to other engagement, Mr. Yu Feng, the Chairman of the Group, was unable to 
attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 June 2017. 
 
(c)    Code Provision C.2.5 

Internal and external audit are regarded as the third line of defence in the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems and therefore the importance of such is highly 
regarded. Currently, the internal audit function is absent as the Group is still in 
transitional period in which internal policies and procedures are being formulated and 
established. Internal reviews are being conducted quite frequently, details are disclosed 
in the section headed “Risk Management and Internal Control” of this corporate 
governance report. The Group also relies on any reports from the external audit to the 
management and the Audit Committee in relation to any detected significant deficiencies 
in the Group’s internal control systems.  
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Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions 
 
The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding director’s securities 
transactions with terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model 
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 
of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). Following specific enquiry by the Company, all 
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have confirmed that they have complied 
with the required standards as stated in the Model Code throughout the Year. 

 
The Board 
 
The Board is responsible for the formulation of the Group’s strategies, policies and 
business plans, regulating and reviewing risk management and internal control systems, 
formulating the Group’s corporate governance policy, and supervising the management 
of the business operations of the Group to ensure that its business objectives are met.  
The Board also ensures adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the 
Board members. The senior management of the Group is responsible for the day-to-day 
operations of the Group and accountable to the Board. 
 
The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the 
business of the Group. As at the date of this announcement, the Board comprises the 
following Directors:  
 
Chairman 
 
Mr. Yu Feng (Non-executive Director)              
 
Executive Directors 
 
Ms. Li Ting (Chief Executive Officer)   
Mr. Huang Xin      
 
Non-executive Directors 
 
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson 
Ms. Hai Olivia Ou     
 
Independent non-executive Directors 
 
Mr. Lin Lijun      
Mr. Qi Daqing                                                           
Mr. Chu Chung Yue, Howard 
  
The current Directors and their brief biographical details are set out in the section 
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”. 
 
There are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships between 
Board members and between the Chairman and the chief executive officer (the “CEO”). 
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The Company has been maintaining the number of independent non-executive Directors 
at not less than one-third  of  the  number  of  the  Board  members  and  has  ensured  
that at least one of the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate 
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise as 
required by the Listing Rules. The participation of independent non-executive Directors 
in the Board brings independent judgement to ensure the interests of all Shareholders 
have been duly considered. 
 
For a Director to be considered independent, that Director should not have any direct or 
indirect material interest in the Group. In determining the independence of Directors, the 
Board follows the requirement set out in the Listing Rules. The Company has received 
from each of the independent non-executive Directors a confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules in respect of the year ended 31 
December 2017 and the Company considers that they are independent. 
 
The roles of the Chairman and the CEO are complementary, but importantly they are 
distinct and separate with a clear and well established division of responsibilities.  
 
The Chairman (assumed by Mr. Yu Feng) is responsible for setting strategic targets, 
providing leadership to the Board, monitoring Board effectiveness and fostering 
constructive relationship between Directors. 
 
The CEO (assumed by Ms. Li Ting) is responsible for managing the business of the 
Group, attending to the formulation and implementation of Group’s policies, and 
assuming full accountability for the Group’s operations.  Acting as the principal manager 
of the Group’s business, the CEO develops a strategic operating plan that reflects the 
long-term objectives and priorities established by the Board, and is directly responsible 
for maintaining the operational performance of the Group.  Working with the senior 
management and the Board, the CEO ensures that the funding requirements of the 
business are met and closely monitors the operating and financial results against the 
plans. The CEO also takes remedial actions when necessary and advises the Board of 
any significant developments and issues of the Group. 

 
The Board meets regularly and at least 4 times a year. Between scheduled meetings, 
senior management of the Group provides to the Directors the information on the 
activities and developments in the businesses of the Group on a timely basis and, when 
required, additional Board meetings are held. In addition, the Directors have full access 
to the information of the Group and to independent professional advice whenever should 
they consider necessary. During the year ended 31 December 2017, a total of 4 Board 
meetings and 1 general meeting, (“2017 AGM”) were held and the attendance of each 
Director is set out below: 
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Number of meetings attended in the year ended 31 
December 2017 / Number of meeting eligible to attend 

 
  Board NC RC AC 2017 AGM 
      
Chairman      
      
Mr. Yu Feng 4/4 2/2 - - 0/1 
      
Executive Directors 
      
Ms. Li Ting  4/4 - - - 1/1 
Mr. Huang Xin 4/4 - 1/1 - 0/1 

      
Non-executive Directors      
      
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson  4/4 - - - 0/1 
Ms. Hai Olivia Ou 4/4 - - - 1/1 
Mr. Huang Youlong  

(resigned on 11 January 2018) 0/4 - - - 0/1 
      

Independent non-executive 
Directors      
      
Mr. Lin Lijun 1/4 0/2 0/1 0/2 0/1 
Mr. Qi Daqing  2/4 1/2 1/1 0/2 0/1 
Mr. Chu Chung Yue, Howard 4/4 2/2 1/1 2/2 0/1 
Dr. Wong Yau Kar, David, GBS, JP 
  (resigned on 3 November 2017) 2/3 - - 2/2 1/1 

 
Note:  
NC – Nomination Committee 
RC – Remuneration Committee 
AC – Audit Committee 
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Professional Training for Directors 
 
All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, should always know their 
collective responsibilities as Directors and of the businesses and activities of the Group.  
Each newly appointed Director would receive an induction package covering the Group’s 
businesses and the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.   
 
During the year ended 31 December 2017, all Directors have received the following 
trainings: 
 

 

 
Board Diversity Policy 
 
The Company has adopted a board diversity policy in October 2013 which sets out the 
approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the 
effectiveness of the Board. 
 
The Company recognises the benefits of a Board that possesses an appropriate balance 
and levels of skills, experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives essential to 
support the execution of its corporate and business strategies and to enhance the quality 
and effectiveness of its performance. Board diversity will strengthen the Company’s 
strategic objectives in driving business results; enhancing good corporate governance 
and reputation; and attracting and retaining talent for the Board. 
 
 
 

Directors 

Training on corporate governance, 
regulatory development and other 

relevant topics 
  
Chairman  

Mr. Yu Feng   
  
Executive Directors  
 
Ms. Li Ting   
Mr. Huang Xin  
  
Non-executive Directors 
  
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson  
Ms. Hai Olivia Ou  
Mr. Huang Youlong  

(resigned on 11 January 2018)  
  
Independent non-executive Directors  
  
Mr. Lin Lijun  
Mr. Qi Daqing                                                       
Mr. Chu Chung Yue, Howard  
Dr. Wong Yau Kar, David, GBS, JP 

(resigned on 3 November 2017)  
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The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of 
factors, including professional qualifications and experience, cultural and educational 
background, race and ethnicity, gender, age and length of service. The Company will 
also take into consideration factors based on its own business model and specific needs 
from time to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board. 
 
As at the date of this announcement, the Board composition under major criteria for 
diversity was summarised as follows: 
 

 
The Board considers that the current board composition is diverse and meets the criteria 
of the board diversity policy. Accordingly, no measurable objectives have been set for 
implementing the said policy. The Board will review the policy from time to time to ensure 
that the board diversity policy is complied with.  
 
A copy of the board diversity policy is published on the Company’s website for public 
information. 

 
Board Committees 
 
Regarding the corporate governance function, during the year ended 31 December 2017, 
the Board has reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional 
development of Directors and senior management. The Board has also reviewed and 
ensured compliance of the relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the code of 
conducts, corporate governance policies and practices and the disclosure in the 
Corporate Governance Report. Besides, the Company has set up three committees 
including, the nomination committee, the remuneration committee and the audit 
committee.  Each committee has its specific terms of reference with reference to the CG 
Code. 
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Remuneration Committee 
 
The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) was 
chaired by Mr. Lin Lijun with existing members of Mr. Huang Xin, Mr. Chu Chung Yue, 
Howard and Mr. Qi Daqing. The Remuneration Committee is responsible to make 
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of Directors and senior 
management of the Group. In addition, the Remuneration Committee shall meet as and 
when required to consider remuneration related matters such as making 
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure for the remuneration 
of Directors and senior management, and to assist the Group in the administration of the 
fair and transparent procedure for setting policies on the remuneration of Directors and 
senior management of the Group. The written terms of reference are posted on the 
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, Code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) was 
adopted by the Remuneration Committee. 
 
During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting. The Remuneration 
Committee reviewed the remuneration packages for Directors and senior management 
of the Group.  
 
Details of the remuneration of the Directors during the Year are set out in note 8 to the 
financial statements. The remuneration of the senior management during the Year falls 
within the following bands: 

 
Number of Individual 

   
Nil to HK$5,000,000  3 
HK$5,000,001 to HK$6,000,000  1 
HK$16,000,001 to HK$17,000,000  1 
 

   

 
Nomination Committee 
 
The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) was chaired 
by Mr. Yu Feng with existing members of Mr. Lin Lijun, Mr. Chu Chung Yue, Howard and 
Mr. Qi Daqing. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been 
determined with reference to the CG Code and posted on the websites of the Company 
and the Stock Exchange. 
 
The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, 
size and composition of the Board at least once every year, making recommendations 
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Group’s corporate strategy, 
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and selecting 
individuals nominated for directorship (if necessary), assessing the independence of the 
independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors, in 
particular the Chairman and the chief executive officers. In considering the nomination of 
new directors, the Board will take into account the qualification, ability, working 
experience, leadership and professional ethics of the candidates.  
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The Nomination Committee is also responsible for the review of the board’s diversity 
policy, considering factors including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and 
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length 
of service of Board members, and review the measurable objectives that the Board has 
set for implementing the board diversity policy (if any), and monitor the progress on 
achieving the measurable objectives (if any). 
 
During the Year, the Nomination Committee held 2 meetings. The committee considered 
the re-election of the retiring Directors and assessed the independence of each 
independent non-executive Director. The committee also considered the nomination of 
appointment of non-executive Directors after completion of the very substantial 
acquisition in relation to acquisition of 60% of the issued share capital of MassMutual 
Asia Limited (definition and detailed information referred to circular of the Company 
dated 21 December 2017). In considering the nomination of appointment of directors, the 
Nomination Committee assessed the relevant candidates on criteria such as integrity, 
experience, skill, professional qualifications and ability to commit time etc, and made 
recommendation to the Board for approval.  
 
Audit Committee 
 
The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) is chaired by Mr. Chu 
Chung Yue, Howard, with existing and former members of Mr. Lin Lijun, Mr. Qi Daqing, 
and Dr. Wong Yau Kar, David, GBS, JP. Dr. Wong Yau Kar, David, GBS, JP resigned as 
a member of the Audit Committee on 3 November 2017. 
 
Mr. Chu holds a bachelor’s degree in commerce from University of British Columbia and 
is a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. Mr. Chu has 
appropriate professional qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the 
Listing Rules. 
 
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in line with the CG Code and are 
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Under its amended 
terms of reference, dated 21 December 2015, the Audit Committee is required, amongst 
other things, to oversee the relationship with the external auditors, to review the Group’s 
preliminary results, interim results and annual financial statements and to monitor the 
integrity of the financial statements of the Group, to review the scope, extent and 
effectiveness of the Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal control 
systems, internal audit and to review the Group’s  financial and accounting policies.  
 
The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the Year. There is no disagreement 
between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation 
or dismissal of the external auditors. The Audit Committee has reviewed, inter alia, the 
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal 
controls, financial reporting and risk management matters of the Group.  The Audit 
Committee has also reviewed, and had discussions with external auditors, on the interim 
and annual consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
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Auditor’s Remuneration 
 
A summary of fees for audit and non-audit services is as follows: 
 
Nature of services 31 December 31 December 
 2017 2016 
   
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Audit services 2,220 1,850 
Other services 6,340 910 
 ------------------- ------------------- 
Total 8,560 2,760 
 ------------------- ------------------- 

 
 
Risk Management and Internal Control 
 
While Yunfeng Financial Group pursues growth in business, it also recognises the 
importance of effectively managing various risks associated with its operations. The 
Group aims to achieve a good balance between risks and growth by implementing 
appropriate risk management and internal control. 
 
Organisation 
 
The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature and 
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and 
maintaining sound and effective risk management and internal control systems (including 
reviewing their effectiveness) to safeguard Shareholders’ investment and the Group’s 
assets. To this end, management continues to allocate resources for a risk management 
and internal control systems to provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives.  
 
Corporate governance committee of the Group (the “Corporate Governance Committee”) 
is made up of the Chief Executive Officer and members who represent each of the key 
departments or business units, including finance, technology, risk management, 
operations, legal, compliance and project management with the responsibility to oversee 
the Group’s overall risk management and internal control systems and has the ultimate 
responsibility for the establishment and implementation of risk governance framework, 
appetite / tolerances, strategies, policies and procedures. The compliance manual sets 
out the guidelines on reporting and disseminating inside information, and the Corporate 
Governance Committee is delegated with the continuing responsibility to monitor 
adherence and compliance with all significant legal and regulatory requirements. The 
Risk Oversight Committee (ROC) is a sub-committee under the Corporate Governance 
Committee, responsible for the risk management and internal control. 
 
The ROC comprises business heads, general counsel, head of compliance and head of 
risk management and is chaired by the Chief Executive Officer. Authority is delegated 
from the Corporate Governance Committee and the function of the committee is risk 
governance for the Group.  
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The Chief Risk Officer (the “CRO”) is responsible for maintaining the effectiveness of the 
risk management framework and for supervision of daily operation of the risk 
management department. 
 
Risk Management and Internal Control Systems 
 
Based on industry practice, the Group adopts the industry standard “Three Lines of 
Defense” for the management of risks, comprising the following elements:  
 
(1) 1st Line of Defence: The business which owns and manages its risks;  
(2)  2nd Line of Defence: The risk management and operation function, which 

defines and co-ordinates the operational risk strategy and framework; and 
(3)   3rd Line of Defence: Internal and external audit, who provide independent 

assurance.  
 
Each of the Group’s departments conducts risk management and internal control that 
responds to the risk profile and size of each business in accordance with basic policies. 
Risk management department, together with other concerned management functions, 
monitor and communicate the risk exposures and issues to the management. Critical 
issues will be escalated to different committees according to pre-set rules, discussions 
will be held and resolutions will be found by responsible committees.  The process used 
to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks is set out in the Report of the Directors 
on pages 37 to 40 of this announcement.  
 
Risk Management and Internal Control Review 
 
Risk management department, led by the Chief Risk Officer, working under the guidance 
of risk management policies, has developed various procedures to manage, monitor and 
report identified risk factors that the Group’s might encounter on a daily basis. Apart from 
periodic risk reports that are sent out to major management members and stake-holders, 
communications are also conducted through regular Corporate Governance Committee 
meetings. Ad hoc risk reports would also be produced, whenever there are risk issues 
that need to be addressed immediately. 
 
2017 has been a successful year in terms of risk management under the current control 
framework built in the past year, focusing on identifying potential risks, risk reporting as 
well as improving and fixing procedures. As of the time when the annual review is 
composed, there are no any risk incidents that have caused significant financial losses to 
the Group due to control failures.  
 
The review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems has been conducted annually by the Board. During the Year, the Board and the 
Audit Committee, through the Corporate Governance Committee, has reviewed the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems and considered that the risk management and internal control systems are 
effective and adequate. The Group’s Risk Management and Internal Control Report for 
2017 was compiled to cover (i) the key risks of the Group; (ii) developments in business 
and extent of the risks in 2017, and responses to changes in its business and the 
external environment; (iii) associated action plans and controls designated to mitigate 
the key risks, where applicable, at appropriate level; (iv) the adequacy of resources, 
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of accounting, and financial 
reporting functions; and (v) the compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. The Risk Management 
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and Internal Control Report was presented to the Audit Committee and the Board for 
review in March 2018.  

 

 
Dissemination of Inside Information 

 
The Company is committed to a consistent practice of timely, accurate and sufficiently 
details disclosure of material information about the Group. With the guidelines of the 
Company regarding the disclosure of inside information, the Group has management 
controls in place to ensure that potential inside information can be promptly identified, 
assessed and escalated for the attention of the Board to decide about the need for 
disclosure.  
 
With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of 
inside information, the Company: 
 
- is well aware of its obligations under the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the 

Listing Rules and the overriding principle that information which is considered 
as inside information should be announced promptly when it is the subject of a 
decision 

 
- conducts its affairs with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside 

Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission 
 
- informs all Directors, senior management and related staff of the latest 

regulations and requirements according to the letters issued or announcements 
published by the Securities and Futures Commission and the Stock Exchange 

 
- has developed procedures and mechanisms for the disclosure of inside 

information 
 
- has included in its Compliance Manual a strict prohibition on the unauthorised 

use of confidential, sensitive or inside information, and has communicated this 
to all staff 

 
- has established and implemented procedures for responding to external 

enquiries about the Company’s affairs. Only directors and delegated 
management of the Company can act as the Company’s spokespersons and 
respond to enquiries on designated areas 
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Company Secretary 
 
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The 
Company Secretary reports to the Board, and is responsible for ensuring that Board 
procedures are followed and for facilitating information flows and communications 
among Directors as well as with Shareholders and the management. 
 
Mr. Chan Man Ko, the company secretary of the Company, has complied with the 
training requirement of the Listing Rules during the Year. 

 

Shareholders’ Right 
 
How Shareholders Can Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) 
 
An EGM may be convened by the Directors on requisition of Shareholders holding not 
less than one-twentieth (5%) of the total voting rights of all Shareholders or by such 
Shareholder(s) who made the requisition (as the case may be) pursuant to section 566 
to 568 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies 
Ordinance”) and the articles of association of the Company. The objects of the meeting 
must be stated in the requisition which must be signed by the requisitionist(s) and 
deposited at the registered office of the Company. Shareholders should follow the 
requirements and procedures as set out in the Companies Ordinance for convening an 
EGM. 
 
Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at a General Meeting 
 
Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, Shareholders representing not less than one-
fortieth (2.5%) of the total voting rights of all Shareholders; or not less than 50 
Shareholders on which there has been paid up an average sum, per Shareholder, of not 
less than HK$2,000, may make requisition in writing for proposing resolution or business 
to be dealt with at the next general meeting. Shareholders should follow the 
requirements and procedures as set out in section 615 of the Companies Ordinance for 
putting forward a proposal at a general meeting. 
 
Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to the Board 
 
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing 
through the company secretary whose contact details are as follows: 
 
Suites 3201-3204, One Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong 
 
Fax: (852) 2845 9036 / (852) 3102 9022 
Email: ir@yff.com 
 
Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of the 
Company. 
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Investor Relations 
 
The Board is committed to providing clear and full performance information of the Group 
to the Shareholders through the publication of interim and annual reports. In addition to 
the circulars, notices and financial reports sent to the Shareholders, additional 
information of the Group is also available to the Shareholders on the Group’s website. 
 
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting for which at least 20 
clear business days’ notice is given. The Chairman and Directors (including 
chairman/members of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee) as well as the representative of external auditor, should 
attend and answer questions on the Group’s business at the meeting. All resolutions at 
the general meeting are decided by a poll which is conducted by the Group’s share 
registrar. 
 
The Group values feedback from the Shareholders on its effort to promote transparency 
and foster investor relationships. Comments and suggestions are always welcomed. 
 

Constitutional Documents 

There are no changes in the constitutional documents of the Company during the Year. 
The latest version of the articles of association of the Company is posted on the website 
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. 
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Report of the Directors 
 

Principal Activities 
 
The principal activity of Yunfeng Financial Group Limited (the “Company”) is investment 
holding. The activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the financial 
statements. An analysis of the revenue and the results of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) by business segments during the Year are set out 
in note 12 to the financial statements. 

 
Business Review 
 
Detailed business review is set out in “Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) 
section in this announcement from pages 7 to 15. Future development of the Company’s 
business is set out in the “CEO’s Statement” section and MD&A in this announcement 
from pages 4 to 6 and page 15 to 16 respectively. An analysis of the Group’s 
performance during the Year using financial key performance indictors is provided in 
MD&A in this announcement from pages 7 to 17.  
 

Key risks and uncertainties 
 
The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the risk management practices of 
the Group are sufficient to mitigate the risks present in our businesses and operations as 
efficiently and effectively as possible. The Board delegates some of this responsibility to 
various operational departments. 
 
The Group’s financial position, operations, business and prospects may be affected by 
the following identified risks and uncertainties. The Group adopts risk management 
policies, measures and monitoring systems to pre-empt and contain exposures 
associated with the identified risks.  
 
Regulatory risk 
 
Our businesses operate in highly-regulated markets and our success and operations can 
be impacted by changes to the regulatory environment and the structure of these 
markets. The Group pays close attention to financial regulatory and legislative 
developments of the markets it operates and actively monitors and consults with 
regulators of the markets on changes which could impact our business. Many of our key 
businesses are also subject to direct regulatory oversight and we are required to 
maintain the appropriate regulatory approvals and licenses to operate, and in some 
cases adhere to certain stringent financial and capital covenants. 
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Operational risk 
 
This is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people or 
system issues and from unforeseen external events. Operational risk usually includes 
the risks resulted from human error in internal operation, imperfection of internal 
process, information system fault or imperfection, trading failure and other reasons.  
 
Our business and operations are at risk of disruption from technologies and processes.  
Information technology and systems is critical to the Group’s operation and business 
development of securities trading, settlement and service, etc. The unreliability of 
system, imperfection of network technology and data error will inflict damage and 
economic losses to the Company.  
 
The Group is responsible for managing client data and undertakes volumes of 
transactional processes via information technology and systems. There is a risk that 
failure to process these transactions correctly could result in loss and liabilities being 
incurred to third parties, and result in breach of certain regulations of the Securities & 
Futures Commission (“SFC”), namely, the SFC (Client Money) Rules under the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance, which stipulates that clients’ money held-in-trust by 
the Group’s relevant operating subsidiaries must be reconciled, restored daily and 
segregated from those of the Group.                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
 
In order to manage these risks, the Group invests significantly in technology, human 
resources and automated processes, business continuity plans to cope with events of 
operation and system failures and disaster recovery, and has also established, a 
dedicated I.T. team which is responsible for handling and responding rapidly to 
emergencies in a systematic manner to eliminate disruptions and disasters, and to 
ensure business continuity. The I.T. team also plays an important role in assessing the 
technological requirements and their viability of new business ideas and initiatives of the 
Group. 
  
The Group remains proactive in its monitoring and improving the internal control 
mechanisms, limits on authority and reporting of operational processes, strengthening 
the inspection and audit, intensifying the compliance and accountability system, to 
reduce the possibility of operational risks and actively and properly dealing with the 
adverse effects. The responsibility for managing operational risks rests with each and 
every employee, functions, divisions and departments of the Group. The responsibility is 
continuous and we adapt our response accordingly to the changing operating 
environment. 
 
The Group recognises that operational risks cannot be eliminated completely, but will 
strive to persist in its strengthening and implementation of robust compliance and risk 
management measures, improve business processes, strengthen the professional 
integrity and ethics of staff through education and training to avoid, detect and identify 
risks, prevent money-laundering, insider dealing, conflict of interest and other possible 
violations, to pre-empt, manage and reduce these operational risks exposure. 
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Credit Risk 
 
Credit risks will arise when a client/counter-party fails to perform its financial and 
contractual obligations. To minimise and control this risk, the Group has established and 
enforced stringent due diligence assessment and credit control procedures to evaluate 
the creditworthiness of its clients and counterparties.  Preventatively and clearly defined 
risk control measures have been deployed to screen, evaluate potential clients and 
determine and assess the relevant creditworthiness and credit ratings which are used to 
determine appropriate trading and credit limits for all clients/counterparties, including 
existing clients/counterparties.  

The safeguard and risk control measures include performing pre-screening and assess 

the client’s credit rating by reputable credit rating agencies; identify and review client’s 

investment objectives, investment history, trading frequency and risk appetite; examine 

and review client’s/counterparty’s past payment records and history of defaults; identify 

and review the client’s capital base and the existence and amount of guarantees and by 

whom such guarantees are given, if any; identify and review any known events which 

may have an adverse impact on the client’s/counterparty’s financial status, potential for 

default or accuracy of information stored regarding the client/counterparty.  Trading and 

credit limits, subject to the enforced and pre-determined maximum, are set specifically 

for each client in accordance with our assessments and their respective credit rating and 

trading needs. The Group’s exposure to the client’s and counterparties’ credit risks is 

continually monitored. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the potential that the Group will be unable to meet its obligations when 

they fall due because of an ability to obtain adequate funding or liquidate assets. In 

managing liquidity risk, the Group continually monitors cash flows and maintains an 

adequate level of cash and credit facilities to ensure the ability to finance the Group’s 

operations and reduce the effects of cash flow fluctuations. 

 
Certain principal operating subsidiaries of the Group are regulated by the SFC, the 
financial market regulators and are subject to various liquidity and capital requirements 
as prescribed by the rules of the SFC. The Group has established procedures and 
monitoring systems, monitoring on a daily basis, to ensure that it maintains adequate 
and necessary liquid capital to facilitate its operating capability, to fund its business 
commitments as well as to comply with the relevant rules including the Financial 
Resources Rules. 
 
The Group has maintained banking facilities and financing arrangement to meet cash 
flow contingencies in its operations. The Company will also consider the need to raise 
capital funding in order to meet the Group’s expansion and growth in its business 
operations. The management believes that the Group’s current level of working capital is 
adequate to meet its operational and financial obligations. 
 
Market Risk 
 
The operating performance of the Group highly relates to the changes in the economy, 
sentiments of the investors and securities market and has risks, volatility and 
uncertainties. 
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Market risk is the risk that the Group’s earnings and capital or its ability to meet its 
business objectives will be adversely affected by movement in foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates and equity prices. 
 
Price risks of the Group include equity price risk, interest rate and exchange rate and 
fluctuation risks involved in the brokerage business, financial advisory and underwriting 
business and other business.  
 
The Group currently has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk, but continues to 
monitor the relative foreign exchange positions of the mix of its assets and liabilities. 
When appropriate, hedging instruments including forward contracts, swaps and currency 
loans would be used to manage the foreign exchange exposure. The foreign currency 
risk is managed and monitored on an on-going basis by senior management and 
relevant operation staff of the Group. 
 
Equity price risk arises from fluctuation in market prices of the Group’s investment in 
financial assets. Senior management regularly reviews and monitors the mix of 
securities in its investment portfolio based on its fair value to ensure the loss arising from 
the changes in the market values of the investment portfolios is minimised and contained 
within an acceptable range. 
 

Results and Dividends 
 
The results of the Group for the Year, and the statement of financial position of the 
Group as of 31 December 2017 are set out in the financial statements on pages 52 to 
55. 
 
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year (2016: nil). 
 

Share Capital 
 
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year are set 
out in note 29 (e) to the financial statements. 
 

Distributable Reserves 
 
Details of the distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2017 are set out 
in note 29 (c) to the financial statements. 
 

Five Year Financial Summary 
 
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five 
financial years is set out on page 138.  

 
Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Listed Securities of the Company 
 
During the Year, other than acting as an agent for clients of the Group and purchase of a 
total of 48,000 shares of the Company (“Shares”) on-market by trustee under the share 
award scheme of the Company adopted by the Board on 12 December 2016, neither the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed 
securities of the Company. 
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Equity Linked Agreements  
 
Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the Year or subsisting at the 
end of the Year are set out below: 
 
Share Option Scheme 
 
The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 21 July 2011 (the “Share Option 
Scheme”).  
 
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the Company with a flexible 
means of giving incentive to rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing 
benefits to the participants (being any employee (whether full-time or part-time), 
Directors or consultants of each member of the Group, provided that the board of 
Directors  may have absolute discretion to determine whether or not one falls within the 
above category) and for such other purposes as the Board may approve from time to 
time. 
 
Pursuant to this 10-year term Share Option Scheme, the Company can grant options to 
participants for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each grant payable by the participant. 
 
No participant shall be granted an option, if the total number of shares issued and to be 
issued upon exercise of all the options granted and to be granted to such participant 
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company 
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period up to 
and including the date of such further grant would exceed 1% of the shares in issue 
unless such further grant has been approved by the shareholders of the Company 
(“Shareholders”) in general meeting with the participant and his associates abstaining 
from voting. 
 
Where the Board proposes to grant any option to a participant who is a substantial 
Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective 
associates, which would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all 
options already granted and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any 
other share option schemes of the Company (including options exercised, cancelled and 
outstanding) to him in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant: 
 
(i)  representing in aggregate more than 0.1% of the total number of Shares in 

issue; and 
(ii)  having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares at the date 

of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, 
 
such proposed grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders in general 
meeting. In such a case, the Company shall send a circular to its Shareholders 
containing all those terms as required under the Listing Rules. The participant concerned 
and all connected persons of the Company must abstain from voting in favour of the 
resolution at such general meeting. Any vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant 
of such options must be taken on a poll. 
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Subscription price in respect of each share issued pursuant to the exercise of options 
granted hereunder shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified to a 
participant and shall be at least the highest of: (a) the closing price of the shares as 
stated in the Stock Exchange daily quotation sheet on the date on which the option is 
offered to a participant, which must be a trading day; (b) a price being the average of the 
closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for 
the 5 trading days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (c) the nominal value of a 
share. 
 
According to the Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise determined by the Board, 
there shall be no minimum holding period for the exercise of the options but the options 
are exercisable within the option period as determined by the Board and in any event 
such period shall not be longer than 10 years from the date upon which any particular 
option is granted. 
 
The total number of share option that could be granted was 38,449,452, representing 
approximately 10% of the total issued shares of the Company on the date of passing the 
resolution to refresh the Share Option Scheme limit at the annual general meeting on 26 
March 2012. 
 
As at the date of this announcement, the total number of share option that can be 
granted was 27,954,040, representing approximately 1.15% of the total issued shares of 
the Company. 
 
During the year, no share options had been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. 
 
Share Award Schemes 
 
The Board had approved the adoption of two share award schemes respectively on 30 
October 2014 (the “2014 Share Award Scheme”) and on 12 December 2016 (the “2016 
Share Award Scheme”).  
 
The purposes of the above share award schemes are to (i) encourage or facilitate the 
holding of Shares by the selected participants; (ii) encourage and retain such individual 
to work with the Group; and (iii) provide additional incentive for them to achieve 
performance goals. 
 
The maximum number of shares can be issued or purchased under the 2016 Share 
Award Scheme and the 2014 Share Award Scheme is 10% of the Shares in issue from 
time to time (i.e. 242,332,639 Shares, representing 10% of total issued Shares as at the 
date of this announcement).  
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2014 Share Award Scheme 
 
Since the date of adoption of 2014 Share Award Scheme (i.e. 30 October 2014) (the 
“2014 Adoption Date”) and up to the date of this announcement, a total of 9,330,239 
Shares have been awarded under the 2014 Share Award Scheme, representing about 
2.09% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the 2014 Adoption Date and about 
0.39% of the total issued Shares as at the date of this announcement.  
 
During the Year, no Shares had been awarded under the 2014 Share Award Scheme 
and as at 31 December 2017, 26,667 Shares were held by the trustee under the 2014 
Share Award Scheme.  
 
Further details of the 2014 Share Award Scheme are set out in Note 30 to the 
consolidated financial statements. Details and other principal terms of the 2014 Share 
Award Scheme are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 30 October 2014. 
  
2016 Share Award Scheme 
 
Since the date of adoption of 2016 Share Award Scheme (i.e. 12 December 2016) (the 
“2016 Adoption Date”) and up to the date of this announcement, 9,330,239 Shares have 
been awarded pursuant to the 2014 Share Award Scheme while 23,990,000 Shares 
have been awarded pursuant to the 2016 Share Award Scheme, representing in 
aggregate about 1.39% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the 2016 Adoption 
Date and about 1.37% of the total issued shares as at the date of this announcement.  
 
TMF Trust (HK) Limited (“TMF Trustee”) and Bank of Communications Trustee Limited 
(“BoCom Trustee”) have been appointed as the trustees for the administration of the 
2016 Share Award Scheme. TMF Trustee shall hold the Shares for the benefit of the 
selected participants who are not connected persons (as defined under the Listing 
Rules) of the Company. BoCom Trustee shall hold the Shares for the benefit of the 
selected participants who are connected persons of the Company. BoCom Trustee 
and/or TMF Trustee shall not be entitled to exercise any voting rights in respect of any 
Shares held under the trust. 

During the Year, 20,190,000 Shares had been awarded under the 2016 Share Award 
Scheme and as at 31 December 2017, 19,480,000 and 48,000 Shares had been held by 
TMF Trustee and BoCom Trustee respectively under the 2016 Share Award Scheme.  
 
Further details of the 2016 Share Award Scheme are set out in Note 30 to the 
consolidated financial statements. Details and other principal terms of the 2016 Share 
Award Scheme are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 12 December 
2016, 11 January 2017 and 24 January 2017. 
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Directors 
 
The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this announcement 
are: 
 
Chairman  
  
Mr. Yu Feng (Non-executive Director)  
  
Executive Directors 
  
Ms. Li Ting (Chief Executive Officer)  
Mr. Huang Xin  
  
Non-executive Directors  
  
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson   
Ms. Hai Olivia Ou  
Mr. Huang Youlong (resigned on 11 January 2018) 
  
Independent non-executive Directors  
  
Mr. Lin Lijun  

Mr. Qi Daqing  

Mr. Chu Chung Yue, Howard  
Dr. Wong Yau Kar, David, GBS, JP (resigned on 3 November 2017) 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            
In accordance with article 103(A) of the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Ko Chun 
Shun, Johnson, Ms. Li Ting and Mr. Qi Daqing shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the 
Company. 
 
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors a 
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules in respect of 
the Year and the Company considers that they are independent. 
 

Changes of Directors’ Information 
 
The Change of directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules is set out below: 
 
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson was re-designated from an executive director to a non-
executive director of KuangChi Science Limited (stock code: 00439) on 16 May 2017, a 
company listed on the Stock Exchange. 
 
Mr. Lin Lijun resigned as an independent director of Shanghai Chengtou Holding Co. Ltd 
(Stock code: 600649) on 27 March 2017, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock 
Exchange; and was appointed as a non-executive director of Wenzhou Kangning 
Hospital Co., Ltd (Stock code: 02120) on 14 June 2017, a company listed on the Stock 
Exchange. 
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Mr. Qi Daqing was appointed as an independent non-executive director of RoadShow 
Holdings Limited (stock code: 00888) on 21 November 2017, and resigned as an 
independent non-executive director of Honghua Group Limited (stock code: 00196) on 1 
January 2018, both companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. 
 

Directors of Subsidiaries 
 
The names of directors who have served on the boards of the subsidiaries of the 
Company (the “subsidiaries”) during the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the 
date of this announcement included:  Mr. Yu Feng, Mr. Huang Xin, Ms. Li Ting, Mr. John 
Maguire, Mr. Szeto Winston1, Ms. Liao Yee Ching, Mr. He Shiqiang1, Mr. Chan Man Ko, 
Mr. Lo Ming Kit1, Mr. Wang Yanzheng1, Mr. Cai Junyi2, Ms. Chow Ming Chee Ada, Ms. 
Qin Li2, Ms. Wen Jie2, Mr. Leung Pui Hong, Ms. Lai Angela Waiyin2, Mr. Brian Eden2, Mr. 
Neil Gray2, Mr. Thomas Parsons JR2, and Mr. Leon Rhule2.  
 
Notes:  
1. No longer directors of the subsidiaries as at the date of this announcement 

2. Companies in which they serve as directors are incorporated in places other than Hong Kong 

 

Directors’ Service Contracts 
 
None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company which requires the 
Company to give a period of notice of more than one year, or to pay compensation or 
make other payments equivalent to more than one year’s emolument. 
 

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions in the 
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any 
associated corporations  
 
As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of each director of the 
Company and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the 
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be 
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the 
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) 
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) under the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange, or known to the Company, were 
as follows: 
 
Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company and the underlying Shares: 
  Number of Shares held 

Name of Director 
Capacity/Nature of 
interests Long position 

Percentage of 
shareholding 

    
Mr. Yu Feng (note 1) 
 

Held by controlled 
corporation/Corporate 
interest 

1,342,976,000 
 

55.42% 
 

    
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, 
Johnson (note 2) 

Held by controlled 
corporation/Corporate 
interest 

229,180,726 
 

9.46% 
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Notes:  
 
(1) Mr. Yu Feng, Chairman of the Group and non-executive Director, was interested in 

1,342,976,000 Shares through Jade Passion Limited (“Jade Passion”), a company 
which is owned as to 73.21% of its issued share capital by Key Imagination Limited 
(“Key Imagination”). 91% of the issued share capital of Key Imagination is owned 
by Yunfeng Financial Holdings Limited (“YFHL”), the issued share capital of which 
in turn, is owned as to 70.15% by Mr. Yu Feng.  

 
(2) Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson, a non-executive Director, was interested in 

229,180,726 Shares through Gainhigh Holdings Limited (“Gainhigh”). 100% of the 
issued share capital of Gainhigh was held by Insula Holdings Limited, a company 
wholly-owned by Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson.  

 
Long positions in the shares and the underlying shares of associated 
corporations: 
 

   
Number of Shares held in 
Associated Corporation 

Name of 
Associated 
Corporation 

Name of 
Director  

Capacity/ 
Nature of Interests 

Long 
position 

Percentage 
of 

shareholding 
     
Yunfeng Financial 

Holdings 
Limited 

Mr. Yu Feng 
 

Beneficial 
owner/Beneficial 
interest 

94 70.15% 

     
Key Imagination 

Limited 
 

Mr. Yu Feng 
(Note 1) 

Held by controlled 
corporation/ 
Corporate interest 

9,100 
 
 

91% 
 
 

     
 Mr. Huang Xin 

(Note 2) 
Held by controlled 
corporation/ 
Corporate interest 

900 
 
 

9% 
 
 

     
Jade Passion 

Limited 
 

Mr. Yu Feng 
(Note 1) 

Held by controlled 
corporation/ 
Corporate interest 

7,321 
 
 

73.21% 
 
 

     
 Mr. Huang 

Youlong 
(Note 3) 

Held by controlled 
corporation/ 
Corporate interest 

2,679 
 

26.79% 
 

 
Notes: 
 
(1) Mr. Yu Feng, Chairman of the Group and non-executive Director was interested in 

9,100 shares, representing 91% of equity interest in Key Imagination through 
YFHL, the substantial shareholder of the Company.  Mr. Yu Feng was also 
interested in 7,321 shares, representing 73.21% of equity interest in Jade Passion 
through Key Imagination. Both Key Imagination and Jade Passion are substantial 
shareholders of the Company.  
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(2) Mr. Huang Xin, an executive Director, is the sole shareholder of Perfect Merit 
Limited which owns 900 shares, representing 9% of the equity interest in Key 
Imagination.  

 
(3) Mr. Huang Youlong, a non-executive Director, is the sole shareholder of Gold 

Ocean Investments Group Inc. which owns 2,679 shares, representing 26.79% 
equity interest in Jade Passion. Mr. Huang Youlong resigned as a non-executive 
Director on 11 January 2018.  

 
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors and chief 
executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates had any interest or 
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and/ or 
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as 
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the 
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part 
XV of the SFO or the Model Code adopted by the Company. 

 
Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares  
 
Save as disclosed above and in this announcement, at no time during the Year was the 
Company, or any of its subsidiaries or associated corporations, a party to any 
arrangement to enable the Directors (including their respective spouses and children 
under the age of 18) to acquire benefits by the means of the acquisition of the shares or 
underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporations. 
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests in Shares 
 
As at 31 December 2017, the Company was notified of the following substantial 
Shareholders’ and other persons’ interests, being 5% or more of the Company’s issued 
shares and recorded in the register kept under Section 336 of the SFO. 
 
  Number of Shares held 

Name of Substantial Shareholder 
Capacity/ 
Nature of interests Long position 

Percentage of 
shareholding 

    
Mr. Yu Feng  (Note 1) Held by controlled 

corporation/Corporate interest 
1,342,976,000 55.42% 

 
 

  

Yunfeng Financial Holdings Limited (Note 1) Held by controlled 
corporation/Corporate interest 

1,342,976,000 55.42% 

 
 

  

Key Imagination Limited  (Note 1) Held by controlled 
corporation/Corporate interest 

1,342,976,000 55.42% 

 
 

  

Jade Passion Limited  (Note 1) Beneficial owner/Beneficial 
interest 

1,342,976,000 55.42% 

 
 

  

Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company 
(Note 2) 

Held by controlled 
corporation/Corporate interest 

800,000,000 33.01% 

 
 

  

MassMutual International LLC (Note 2) Beneficial owner/Beneficial 
interest 

800,000,000 33.01% 

 
 

  

Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson (Note 3) Held by controlled 
corporation/Corporate interest 

229,180,726 9.46% 

 
 

  

Insula Holdings Limited (Note 3) Held by controlled 
corporation/Corporate interest 

229,180,726 9.46% 

 
 

  

Gainhigh Holdings Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner/Beneficial 
interest 

229,180,726 9.46% 

 
 

  

Ms. Lian Yi  (Note 4) Held by controlled 
corporation/Corporate interest 

167,872,000 6.93% 

 
 

  

Clear Expert Limited  (Note 4) Held by controlled 
corporation/Corporate interest 

167,872,000 6.93% 

    

Violet Passion Holdings Limited  (Note 4) Beneficial owner/Beneficial 
interest 

167,872,000 6.93% 
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Notes: 
 
1. Mr. Yu Feng, Chairman of the Group and a non-executive Director was interested 

in 1,342,976,000 shares through Jade Passion, a company which is owned as to 

73.21% of its issued share capital by Key Imagination. 91% of the issued share 

capital of Key Imagination is owned by YFHL, the issued share capital of which in 

turn, is owned as to 70.15% by Mr. Yu Feng. 

2. MassMutual International LLC was interested in 800,000,000 shares, being the 

consideration shares to be allotted and issued to MassMutual International LLC 

upon completion of the Acquisition (definition refers to circular of the Company 

dated 21 December 2017). Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company is the 

sole member of MassMutual International LLC.  

3. Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson, a non-executive Director, was interested in 

229,180,726 shares through Gainhigh. 100% of the issued share capital of 

Gainhigh was held by Insula Holdings Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Ko 

Chun Shun, Johnson. 

4. Ms. Lian Yi was interested in 167,872,000 shares through Violet Passion Holdings 

Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Clear Expert Limited, which in turn is a 

company wholly-owned by Ms. Lian Yi. 

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, there were no other persons who 
had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company 
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under divisions 2 and 3 of the SFO, or 
which were recorded in the register to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the 
SFO. 
 

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts   
 
Save as disclosed elsewhere in this announcement, no transactions, arrangements or 
contracts of significance (i) to which the Company, its holding company or any of their 
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or his connected entities was materially 
interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the Year or at the 
end of the Year, nor (ii) between the Company, or one of its subsidiaries, and a 
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries. 
 

Connected Transactions/Related Party Transactions 

 
Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the Year, which 
may also constitute connected transactions under the Listing Rules, are disclosed in 
Note 35 to the financial statements.  

 
During the Year, the Group did not have any connected transactions that were subject to 
the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 

 

  



Yunfeng Financial Group Limited 
Annual Results Announcement for the Year Ended 31 December 2017 

 

50 

Management Contracts 
 
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any 
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the 
Year. 

 

Major Suppliers and Major Customers 
 
During the Year, revenue derived from the Group’s 5 largest customers accounted for 
approximately 40% of the total revenue for the Year, with the single largest customer 
contributing approximately 13.5%. 
 
The Group is a provider of financial services. In the opinion of the Board, it is therefore of 
no value to disclose details of the Group’s suppliers. 

 
Save as disclosed elsewhere in this announcement, none of the Directors, their close 
associates or any shareholders, which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 
5% of the Company’s issued shares, had an interest in the major customers. 

 
Charitable Donations 
 
During the year, no charitable donations is made by the Group (2016: nil).  

 
Corporate Governance 
 
The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance 
practices. Information on the corporate governance practice of the Company is set out in 
the Corporate Governance Report of this announcement. 

 

Indemnity of Directors 
 
A permitted indemnity provision as set out in the articles of association of the Company 
that provides for indemnity against liability incurred by directors and executive officers of 
the Group is currently in force and was in force throughout the Year. 

 
Sufficiency of Public Float 
 
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the 
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this announcement, there was sufficient 
public float of the Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules. 
 

Independent Auditors 
 
The Group’s auditor, KPMG will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the 
Company. A resolution for reappointment of KPMG will be proposed for Shareholders’ 
approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting.  
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Review by Audit Committee 
 
As at the date of this announcement, the Audit Committee comprised three independent 
non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Chu Chung Yue, 
Howard with Mr. Lin Lijun and Mr. Qi Daqing being the other members. The terms of 
reference of the Audit Committee are in line with the Corporate Governance Code as set 
out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The Group’s consolidated financial statements 
for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.  
 
By order of the Board 

 

 

 

 
Li Ting 
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer 
 
Hong Kong, 29 March 2018 
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Consolidated Income Statement 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 
 
    
 Note 2017 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
Revenue 3 21,064 46,120 
    
Other operating income and gains 4 91,152 34,981 
Disposal gains of available-for-sale 

financial assets  14,961 - 
Net loss on financial assets and 

financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 5 (89,168) (75,688) 

  
    

  38,009 5,413 
    
Staff costs 6(a) (247,134) (200,094) 
Depreciation and amortisation  (18,531) (7,992) 
Other operating expenses 6(b) (138,907) (113,888) 
  

    

Loss from operations  (366,563) (316,561) 
    
Finance costs 6(c) (9,473) (97) 
Net provision for impairment loss 6(d) (2,132) (8,211) 
  

    

Loss before taxation 6 (378,168) (324,869) 
    
Income tax 7(a) (1,138) 8,327 
  

    

Loss for the year  (379,306) (316,542) 
  

    

Loss attributable to equity shareholders 
of the Company  (379,054) (316,688) 

(Loss)/profit attributable to non-
controlling interests  (252) 146 

  
    

Loss per share attributable to equity 
shareholders of the Company    

    
Basic (HK$) 11(a) (0.16) (0.13) 
  

    

    
Diluted (HK$) 11(b) (0.16) (0.13) 
  

    

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2017  

 
    
  2017 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
Loss for the year  (379,306) (316,542) 
    
Other comprehensive income for the 

year (after tax and reclassification 
adjustments)    

    
Item that may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss:     
    
Available-for-sale financial assets:    
- net movement in fair value reserve  30,260 (2,141) 
- deferred taxation  (820) - 
- reclassification adjustments for 

amounts transferred to profit or loss 
on gains on disposal   (14,961) - 

- reclassification adjustments for 
amounts transferred to profit or loss 
on impairment  1,980 - 

    
Foreign operations 
- Exchange differences arising on 

translation of results  2,321 (621) 
  

    

Total comprehensive income for the 
year  (360,526) (319,304) 

  
    

    
Total comprehensive income for the 

year attributable to:    
    

- equity shareholders of the Company  (360,331) (319,375) 
- non-controlling interests  (195) 71 

  
    

  (360,526) (319,304) 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
At 31 December 2017 
 
 Note 2017 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
Non-current assets    
    

Property and equipment 13 17,035 21,418 
Goodwill and other intangible assets 14 36,110 21,512 
Available-for-sale financial assets 18 565,507 99,853 
Deferred tax assets 28(b) - 508 
Other non-current assets 17 9,160 10,176 
  

    

Total non-current assets  627,812 153,467 
  --------------------- --------------------- 

Current assets    
    

Available-for-sale financial assets 18 326,691 - 
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 19 5,936 210,270 
Accounts receivable and accrued 

income 20 74,238 23,611 
Other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments 21 65,652 15,024 
Bank balance – trust and segregated 

accounts 22(b) 340,029 358,544 
Fixed bank deposits with original 

maturity over 3 months 22(e) 1,580,313 524,187 
Cash and cash equivalents 22(a) 2,182,374 3,640,494 
  

    

Total current assets  4,575,233 4,772,130 
  --------------------- --------------------- 

Current liabilities    
    

Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 26 78,063 - 

Accounts payable 23 452,575 370,677 
Accrued expenses and other payables 24 101,890 55,483 
Obligation under finance lease  27 7,694 842 
Current taxation 28(a) 44,259 53,087 
  

    

Total current liabilities  684,481 480,089 

  
--------------------- --------------------- 

Net current assets  3,890,752 4,292,041 

  
--------------------- --------------------- 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
At 31 December 2017 (continued) 

 
    
 Note 2017 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
Non-current liabilities    
    

Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 26 363,677 - 

Obligation under finance lease 27 15,378 1,385 
Deferred tax liabilities 28(b) 177 - 
  

    

Total non-current liabilities  379,232 1,385 

  
--------------------- --------------------- 

NET ASSETS  4,139,332 4,444,123 
  

    

    
EQUITY    
    
Share capital 29(e) 4,629,094 4,499,548 
Reserves  (489,762) (56,532) 
  

    

  4,139,332 4,443,016 
Non-controlling interests  - 1,107 
  

    

TOTAL EQUITY  4,139,332 4,444,123 
  

    

 

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 29 March 2018 and are signed on its 
behalf by: 

  
  
  
  

Li Ting Huang Xin 
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer Executive Director 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements.  
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2017  

 
   
  __________________________________Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company___________________   

 
 

Share 
capital 

Shares held
 by share  

award 
scheme 

Share-based 
payment  

reserve 

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve 
Fair value  

reserve 
Exchange 

reserve 
Statutory 
Reserve 

 Retained 
profit/ 

(accumulated 
loss) Sub total 

Non-
controlling 

interests Total 
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
             
Balance at 1 January 2016  4,499,548 (8,042) 5,931 2,650 - (102) - 260,322 4,760,307 1,036 4,761,343 
             
Changes in equity for the year 

ended 31 December 2016:             
             
Equity settled share-based 

transaction  - - 2,084 - - - - - 2,084 - 2,084 
Shares vested under share award 

scheme  - 7,945 (7,945) - - - - - - - - 
(Loss)/profit for the year  - - - - - - - (316,688) (316,688) 146 (316,542) 
Other comprehensive income for 

the year  - - - - (2,141) (546) - - (2,687) (75) (2,762) 
Appropriation to statutory 

reserves  - - - - - - 219 (219) - - - 
  

                      

Balance at  31 December 2016 
and 1 January 2017  4,499,548 (97) 70 2,650 (2,141) (648) 219 (56,585) 4,443,016 1,107 4,444,123 

             
Changes in equity for the year 

ended 31 December 2017:             
             
Share issued under share award 

scheme 29(e) 129,546 (129,546) - - - - - - - - - 
Share repurchased under share 

award scheme  - (260) - - - - - - (260) - (260) 
Equity settled share-based 

transaction  - - 56,712 - - - - - 56,712 - 56,712 
Shares vested under share award 

scheme 30(ii) - 24,353 (26,039) - - - - 1,686 - - - 
Loss for the year  - - - - - - - (379,054) (379,054) (252) (379,306) 
Other comprehensive income for 

the year  - - - - 16,459 2,264 - - 18,723 57 18,780 
Disposal of a subsidiary 15(c) - - - - - 195 - - 195 (912) (717) 
Appropriation to statutory 

reserves  - - - - - - 1,227 (1,227) - -  
  

                      

Balance at 31 December 2017  4,629,094 (105,550) 30,743 2,650 14,318 1,811 1,446 (435,180) 4,139,332 - 4,139,332 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

 
    
 Note 2017 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
Operating activities    
    

Cash generated from operations 22(c) 82,202 132,169 
    
Interest received  3,758 27 
Interest paid  (426) - 
    
Tax paid:    

- Hong Kong profit tax paid  (9,130) (18,255) 
- Overseas tax paid  (1,615) (429) 

  
    

Net cash generated from operating 
activities  74,789 113,512 

  -------------------- -------------------- 

Investing activities    
    

Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries, net of 
cash  - (1,165) 

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 15(c) 4,596 - 
Payment for purchased of property and 

equipment  (4,985) (13,149) 
Proceeds from disposal of fixed asset  24 - 
Payment for purchase of intangible asset  (1,995) (8,911) 
Deposit made to other non-current asset  - (12,154) 
Proceeds from dividend and distribution 

income from available-for-sale financial 
assets  14,348 - 

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale 
financial assets  708,841 - 

Payment for acquisition of and contribution 
made to available-for-sale financial assets  (1,468,617) (101,994) 

Increase in fixed bank deposits placed with 
original maturity over 3 months  (1,056,126) (524,187) 

Interest received  70,730 26,293 
  

    

Net cash used in investing activities  (1,733,184) (635,267) 
  -------------------- -------------------- 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued) 

 
    
 Note 2017 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
Financing activities    
    

Payment made for finance lease obligation  (1,075) - 
Net proceeds from issuance of preference 

shares by a subsidiary  206,194 - 
Share repurchase under share award scheme  (260) - 
Interest paid  (5,303) - 
  

    

Net cash generated from financing 
activities  199,556 - 

  
-------------------- -------------------- 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (1,458,839) (521,755) 
    

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  3,640,494 4,162,922 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  719 (673) 
  

    

Cash and cash equivalents at  
31 December 22(a) 2,182,374 3,640,494 

  
    

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

1 General information 

Yunfeng Financial Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company 
incorporated in Hong Kong, the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited.  The registered office of the Company is Suites 3201-3204, One 
Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong.  

The principal activities of the Group are securities brokerage, consultancy and advisory 
services and investment research together with new principal activities including wealth 
management, employee stock ownership plan administration and principal investment. 
The principal activities and other particulars of its principal subsidiaries are set out in 
note 15 to the financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”), 
which is the functional currency of the Company, and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.  

2 Significant accounting policies 

(a) Statement of compliance 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong 
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all 
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting 
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong 
and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial 
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited.  A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is set 
out below. 

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or 
available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group and the 
Company. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes in accounting policies 
resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are 
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these 
financial statements. 
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(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 comprise 
the Company and its subsidiaries including the consolidated structured entities 
(collectively the “Group”) and the Group’s interests in associates. 

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the 
historical cost basis except that the following assets are stated at their fair value as 
explained in the accounting policies set out below: 

 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (see note 2(j) and 
2(q)) 

 Derivative financial instruments (see note 2(k)) 

 Available-for-sale financial assets (see note 2(m)) 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application 
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of 
which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

(c) Changes in accounting policies 

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for 
the current accounting period of the Group.  None of these developments have had a 
material effect on how the Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior 
periods have been prepared or presented.  However, additional disclosure has been 
included in note 22 (c) to satisfy the new disclosure requirements introduced by the 
amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows: Disclosure initiative, which require 
entities to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from 
cash flows and non-cash changes. 

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for 
the current account period. 

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When assessing 
whether the group has power, only substantive rights (held by the group and other 
parties) are considered.  

  



Yunfeng Financial Group Limited 
Annual Results Announcement for the Year Ended 31 December 2017 

 

61 

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements 
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group 
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way 
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or 
indirectly to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any 
additional terms with the holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a 
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the 
definition of a financial liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect to 
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at their proportionate share 
of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. 

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position 
within equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the 
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face 
of the consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the 
year between non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. 
Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual obligations towards 
these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of 
financial position depending on the nature of the liability. 

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of 
controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change 
in relative interests, no gain or loss is recognised. 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the 
entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or 
loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is 
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial 
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an 
investment in an associate or joint venture. 

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated 
at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(i)(i)), unless the investment is classified as 
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale). 

The Group served as the manager of funds. The funds invest mainly in equities, debt 
securities and monetary market instruments. The Group’s percentage ownership in 
these structured entities can fluctuate from day to day according to the Group’s and 
third-party participation in them. Where the Group is deemed to control such funds, with 
control determined based on an analysis of the guidance in HKRS 10 “Consolidated 
financial statements”, they are consolidated, with the interests of parties other than the 
Group being classified as liabilities because there is a contractual obligation for the 
relevant group entity as an issuer to repurchase or redeem units or return of capital in 
such funds for cash. These are presented as “Third-party interests in consolidated funds” 
within financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the consolidated statement 
of financial position. 
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 (e) Associates 

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or 
joint control, over its management, including participation in the financial and operating 
policy decisions. 

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements 
under the equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal 
group that is classified as held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment is 
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if 
any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the 
Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to the 
investment (see note 2(i)(i)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of 
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for the 
year are recognised in the consolidated income statement, whereas the Group’s share of 
the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group’s 
interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the 
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments 
on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of 
the investment under the equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests 
that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate. 

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its 
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except 
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in 
which case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, retained 
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under 
the equity method. 

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is accounted 
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being 
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date when 
significant influence is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the 
fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset. 
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(f) Goodwill  

Goodwill represents the excess of 

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree; over 

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at 
the acquisition date. 

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss 
as a gain on a bargain purchase. 

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a 
business combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash 
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is 
tested annually for impairment (see note 2(i)). 

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of 
purchased goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal. 

(g) Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)). 

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property and 
equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement 
or disposal. 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property and equipment, less 
their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated 
useful lives as follows: 

 Leasehold improvements Shorter of the unexpired term of lease and 5 years   

 Office equipment and furniture 5 years 

 Computers equipment 3- 5 years 

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually by the 
Group. 

 

  



Yunfeng Financial Group Limited 
Annual Results Announcement for the Year Ended 31 December 2017 

 

64 

(h) Leased assets 

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the Group substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases. 
Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 
Group are classified as operating leases. 

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases, the amounts 
representing the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, of such assets are recognised as property and equipment and 
the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are recorded as obligations under 
finance leases and impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)). Depreciation is provided at rates 
which write off the cost or valuation of the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, 
where it is likely the Group will obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset. 
Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are charged to profit or loss over the 
period of the leases so as to produce an approximately constant periodic rate of charge 
on the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting period. Contingent 
rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred. 

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made 
under the leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting 
periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more 
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease 
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate 
net lease payments made.  

(i) Impairment of assets 

(i) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, associates, available for sale 
financial assets, accounts receivable and other receivables 

Investments in subsidiaries, associates, accounts receivable and other receivables 
that are carried at cost or amortised cost are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment.  If any such evidence 
exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as follows: 

 For investments in subsidiaries and associates, the impairment loss is 
measured by comparing the recoverable amount in the investment with its 
carrying amount in accordance with note 2(i)(ii).  The impairment loss is 
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount in accordance with note 2(i)(ii). 

 For accounts receivable and other receivables carried at amortised cost, the 
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of discounting 
is material.  This assessment is made collectively where financial assets carried 
at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due 
status, and have not been individually assessed as impaired.  Future cash flows 
for financial assets which are assessed for impairment collectively are based on 
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the 
collective group. 
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If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.  A 
reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeding that which would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised in prior years. 

 For an available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in 
the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to be objective 
evidence of impairment. When an available-for-sale financial asset is 
considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.  Losses previously 
recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase 
in fair value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve. 
In respect of available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are 
subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of 
the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
recognition of the impairment loss.  

 (ii) Impairment of other assets 

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each reporting date to 
identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or an impairment loss 
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased: 

 property and equipment;  

 intangible assets; and 

 goodwill 

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In 
addition, for goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet available for use and 
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is 
estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment. 

 Calculation of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset.  Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely 
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). 
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 Recognition of impairment losses 

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an 
asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable 
amount.  Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units 
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 
the cash generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying 
amount of the assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except 
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair 
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), or value in use (if determinable). 

 Reversals of impairment losses 

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if 
there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not 
reversed.  A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised in prior years.  Reversals of impairment losses are credited to 
profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised. 

(j) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured initially at fair value, 
which normally will be equal to the transaction price. Transaction costs are expensed 
immediately. 

The Group recognises financial assets at fair value through profit or loss on the date it 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument, using trade date 
accounting.  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial assets held for 
trading and those designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition, but exclude those investments in equity instruments that do not have a 
quoted market price and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried at fair value. Changes in 
the fair value are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise. 
Upon disposal or repurchase, the difference between the net sale proceeds or the net 
payment and the carrying value is included in the income statement. 

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is based on their 
quoted market prices at the end of reporting period without any deduction for estimated 
future selling costs. Financial assets are priced at current bid prices, while financial 
liabilities are priced at current asking prices. 
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If there is no publicly available latest traded price nor a quoted market price on a 
recognised stock exchange or a price from a broker/dealer for non-exchange-traded 
financial instruments, or if the market for it is not active, the fair value of the instrument is 
estimated using valuation techniques that provide a reliable estimate of prices which 
could be obtained in actual market transactions. The inputs of the valuation techniques 
are based on market data. 

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows 
from the financial asset expire, or where the financial asset together with substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership, have been transferred. 

The Group uses the weighted average method to determine realised gains and losses to 
be recognised in the income statement on derecognition. 

(k) Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. At the end of each 
reporting period, the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair 
value is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

(l) Accounts receivable and other receivables 

Accounts receivable and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and 
thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for 
impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(i)(i)), except where the receivables are interest-
free loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of 
discounting would be immaterial.  In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less 
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts. 

(m) Available-for-sale financial assets  

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated or not 
classified as financial assets as at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables 
or held-to-maturity investments.  

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting 
period. Changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale monetary financial assets 
relating to interest income calculated using the effective interest method and dividends 
on available-for-sale equity investments are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes 
in the carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, until the 
financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is 
reclassified to profit or loss.  

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when 
the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established. 
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(n) Intangible assets 

The intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 
2(i)(ii)). Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use, ie when it is in the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended. 

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives as follows: 

- Computers software 3 - 5 years 

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are assessed to be indefinite. 
Any conclusion that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually 
to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful 
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment 
from indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively from the date of change and in 
accordance with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set out 
above. 

(o) Accounts payable and other payables 

Accounts payable and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter 
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which 
case they are stated at cost 

(p) Interest-bearing borrowings 

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable 
transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are 
stated at amortised cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised and 
redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, 
together with any interest and fees payable, using the effective interest method. 

(q) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent 
consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to 
which HKFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading or (iii) those designated as at FVTPL.  

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:  

•  it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; 
or  

•  on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that 
the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or  

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.  
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A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent 
consideration may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination may be 
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:  

•  such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or  

•  the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or 
both, which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in 
accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy, 
and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or  

•  it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and HKAS 
39 permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at 
FVTPL.  

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising 
on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit 
or loss excludes any interest paid on the financial liabilities. Fair value is determined in 
the manner described in note 33. 

(r) Employee benefits 

(i) Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution 
retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which 
the associated services are rendered by employees. 

(ii) Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds as required under the Hong Kong 
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance are recognised as an expense in profit 
or loss as incurred. 

 (iii) The fair value of share awards and share options granted to employees is recognised as 
an employee cost with a corresponding increase in share-based payment capital reserve 
within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the Black-Scholes model, 
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the share awards and options 
were granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming 
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value of the options is 
spread over the vesting period, taking into account the probability that the options will 
vest. 

During the vesting period, the number of share awards and share options that are 
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value 
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the 
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a 
corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment reserve. On vesting date, the 
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share 
awards and options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve) 
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the 
market price of the company’s shares.  The equity amount is recognised in the share-
based payment reserve until either the option is exercised (when it is included in the 
amount recognised in share capital for the shares issued) or the option expires (when it 
is released directly to retained profit). 
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 (s) Income tax 

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities.  Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of 
tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary 
differences respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.  Deferred tax assets 
also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.  

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax 
assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.  Future taxable profits that may support 
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences 
include those that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, 
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable 
entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of 
the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the 
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward.  The same criteria are adopted when 
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of 
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences 
are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable 
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit 
can be utilised. 

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those 
temporary differences arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit 
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and temporary differences 
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable 
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible 
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected 
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are not discounted. 

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each reporting date and is 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised.  Any such reduction is reversed to 
the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available. 

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when 
the liability to pay the related dividends is recognised. 
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Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented 
separately from each other and are not offset.  Current tax assets are offset against 
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities if the Group 
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and the following additional conditions are met: 

 in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group intends either to settle on 
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or 

 in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority on either: 

 the same taxable entity; or 

 different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant 
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or 
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the current tax 
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously. 

(t) Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the 
Group has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made.  Where the time value of money is material, provisions 
are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation. 

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the 
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, 
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.  Possible obligations, 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of 
outflow of economic benefits is remote. 

(u) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss 
as follows: 

(i) Brokerage commission income 

Brokerage commission income is recognised on a trade date basis when the relevant 
transactions are executed.   

(ii) Interest income 

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method. 

(iii) Handling and settlement fee income, subscription, management and rebate fee income 
and consultancy and advisory fee income 

Handling and settlement fee income, subscription, management and rebate fee income 
and consultancy and advisory fee income are recognised when the related services are 
rendered.  
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(iv) Consultancy and advisory fee settled with non-cash consideration  

Consultancy and advisory fee settled with non-cash transaction is recognised at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable, which represents at the transaction 
price of such consideration as initially determined. When the outcome of the transaction 
involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with 
the transaction shall be recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the 
transaction at the end of the reporting period. 

(v) Translation of foreign currencies 

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange 
rates ruling at the transaction dates.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of 
reporting period.  Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction 
dates. 

Exchange differences relating to investments at fair value through profit or loss and 
derivative financial instruments are included in gains less losses from trading securities 
or financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss. 

Exchange differences relating to available for sales debt instruments are included in 
income statement. 

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange 
rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. 
Items of statement of financial position, including goodwill arising on consolidation of 
foreign operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005, are translated into Hong Kong 
dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of reporting period. The resulting 
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
separately in equity in the exchange reserve. Goodwill arising on consolidation of a 
foreign operation acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange 
rate that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation. 

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences 
relating to that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to the income statement when 
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised. 

(w) Fiduciary activities 

The Group maintains segregated accounts with authorised institutions to hold clients’ 
monies arising from its normal course of the regulated business activities. The Group 
has classified the “bank balances – trust and segregated accounts” within the current 
assets in the consolidated statement of financial position and recognised the 
corresponding account payables to respective clients and other institutions on the 
grounds that it is liable for any loss or misappropriation of clients’ monies. 

The Group is not allowed to use the clients’ monies to settle its own obligations. The 
cash held on behalf of customers is restricted and governed by the Securities and 
Futures (Client Money) Rules under the Securities and Futures Ordinance. 
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 (x) Related parties 

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that 
person: 

(1) has control or joint control over the Group; 

(2) has significant influence over the Group; or 

(3) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.  

(ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies: 

(1) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). 

(2) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or 
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 

(3) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 

(4) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of 
the third party. 

(5) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either 
the Group or an entity related to the Group. 

(6) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (i). 

(7) A person identified in (i)(1) has significant influence over the entity or is a member 
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 

(8) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key 
management personnel services to the Group or the Group’s parent. 

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be 
expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity. 

 (y) Segment reporting 

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the 
consolidated financial statements, are identified from the financial information provided 
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of 
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of 
business and geographical locations. 

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting 
purposes unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in 
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, the 
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the 
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are 
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria. 
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(z) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with 
banks and other short-term highly liquid investment that are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, 
having been within three month of maturity at acquisition. 

(aa)  Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors of the Company are 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Fair value of derivative and financial instruments 

The Group selects appropriate valuation techniques for financial instruments which are 
classified as level 2 and 3 investments in accordance with the Group’s significant 
accounting policies. Note 33 provides detailed information about the key assumptions 
used in the determination of the fair value of material financial instruments. 

Determination of consolidation scope 

All facts and circumstances must be taken into consideration in the assessment of 
whether the Group, as an investor, controls the investee. The principle of control sets out 
the following three elements of control: (a) power over the investee; (b) exposure, or 
rights, to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and (c) the ability to use 
power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. 

An investor’s initial assessment of control or its status as a principal or an agent would 
not change simply because of a change in market conditions (e.g. a change in the 
investee’s returns driven by market conditions), unless the change in market conditions 
changes one or more of the three elements of control listed above or changes the overall 
relationship between a principal and an agent. 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses the variable returns arising from 
other equities and uses plenty of judgments, in combination with historical exposure to 
variable returns, to determine the consolidation scope. 
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3 Revenue 

The principal activities of the Group are wealth management, securities broking, 
employee stock ownership plan administration, corporate finance advisory and 
investment research and principal investment.  

Revenue represents the gross amount recognised during the year. An analysis of the 
Group’s revenue for the year is as follows: 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   

Brokerage commission 2,019 3,819 
Subscription, management and rebate fees 

income 3,791 - 
Consultancy and advisory fees 11,110 42,274 
Interest income from loan receivables 3,719 - 
Interest income from clients and other service 

income 425 27 
 

    

 21,064 46,120 
 

    

4 Other operating income and gains 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   

Handling and settlement fees 2,281 458 
Bank and other interest income 72,476 32,926 
Dividend and distribution income from available-

for-sale financial assets 14,348 - 
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 756 - 
Other income 1,291 1,597 
 

    

 91,152 34,981 
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5 Net loss on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit and loss 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   

Net unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss   

 Over the counter derivative contracts/options (1,327) (20,124) 
 Equity investment listed outside Hong Kong (15,492) (29,143) 
 Equity investment listed in Hong Kong - 17,211 
 

    

 (16,819) (32,056) 
 

    

Net realised loss on financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss   

 Unlisted option issued by a Hong Kong listed 
company (5,470) - 

 Equity investment listed in Hong Kong (59,253) (43,632) 
 

    

 (64,723) (43,632) 
 

    

Fair value change of financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss (7,626) - 

 
    

 
 (89,168) (75,688) 
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6 Loss before taxation 

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: 
   
 2017 2016 

 HK$’000 HK$’000 
(a) Staff costs   

   
Commission paid 1,009 84 
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses  

(note 30) 56,712 2,084 
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind  177,114 166,789 
Resignation and termination benefit 971 23,900 
Social welfare 11,328 7,237 
 

    

 247,134 200,094 
 

    

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualified employees 
in Hong Kong. The Group contributes certain percentage of relevant payroll costs to the 
scheme, and the contribution is matched by employees but subject to a maximum 
amount for each employee. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of 
the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. 

The domestic employees of the Group in the PRC participate in state-managed social 
welfare plans, including social pension insurance, unemployment insurance, health care 
insurance, housing funds and other social welfare plan operated by the relevant 
municipal and provincial governments. According to the relevant regulations, the 
premiums and welfare benefit contributions borne by the Group are calculated and paid 
to the relevant labour and social welfare authorities on a regular basis. The social 
pension insurance and unemployment insurance are defined contribution plans. The 
contributions to the defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred.  

During the year, wealth management products and securities brokerage transaction fees 
approximately amounted to HK$1,500,000 were waived as part of staff benefit scheme.  
   
 2017 2016 

 HK$’000 HK$’000 
(b) Other operating expenses   

   
Auditors’ remuneration 2,220 1,850 
Legal and professional costs (Note) 66,241 20,553 
Operating lease payments - property rentals 24,689 19,854 
Information, data and communication expenses 33,139 30,467 
Net exchange (gain) loss (16,276) 3,609 
Entertainment and travelling 7,220 5,457 
 

    

 
Note: it includes HK$47.3 million legal and professional fee related to the acquisition of 
60% of the issued share capital of MassMutual Asia Limited. 
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 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 

   
(c) Finance costs   

   
Finance lease obligation 823 - 
Preference share liability 8,230 - 
Other Interest expense 420 97 
 

    

 9,473 97 
 

    

 
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
(d) Net provision for impairment loss    

   
(Reversal)/ provision for   
Goodwill  - 1,165 
Other receivables - 6,953 
Account receivables (463) 93 
Fixed asset 615 - 
Available for sales investment 1,980 - 
 

    

 2,132 8,211 
 

      

7 Income tax  

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents: 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Current tax   
   
Provision for the year – Hong Kong - 11,254 
Provision for the year – Overseas 1,270 1,298 
Over-provision in respect of prior years (16) (2,176) 
 

    

Total current tax charge for the year 1,254 10,376 
 

    

Deferred tax   
   
Reversal of temporary differences (116) (18,703) 
 

    

Total tax charge/(credit) for the year 1,138 (8,327) 
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The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2017 is calculated at 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) of 
the estimated assessable profits for the year. Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is 
charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries. 

 (b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at applicable tax rates: 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
Loss before taxation (378,168) (324,869) 
 

    

Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated at 
the rate applicable to profit in the country 
concerned (63,290) (55,567) 

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 30,959 47,056 
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (15,446) (15,052) 
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously not 

recognised (2,781) (633) 
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 46,841 35,529 
Over-provision in prior years (16) (2,176) 
Taxable temporary difference reversal - (18,171) 
Others  4,871 687 
 

    

Actual tax expense/(credit) 1,138 (8,327) 
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8 Directors’ Emoluments 

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance and part 2 of the Company (Disclosure of Information about 
Benefits of Directors) Regulations are as follows: 
  
  2017  

 
Directors’ 

fees 

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind 

Discretionary  
bonus 

(note i) 

Contributions 
to Mandatory 

Provident 
Fund Sub-total 

Share-
based 

payments 
(note ii) 

Resignation
 payment Total 

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 

Chairman         

Yu Feng  - - - - - - - - 

         
Executive 

directors         

Huang Xin  - - - - - - - - 

Li Ting (note v) - 7,644 9,360 18 17,022 - - 17,022 

         
Non-executive 

directors         
Ko Chun Shun, 

Johnson  300 15 - - 315 - - 315 

Hai Olivia Ou  - - - - - - - - 
Huang Youlong 

(note iii) - - - - - - 
 

- - 

         
Independent non-

executive 
directors         

Chu Chung Yue, 
Howard 360 18 - - 378 - - 378 

Lin Lijun 240 12 - - 252 - - 252 

Qi Daqing 240 12 - - 252 - - 252 
Dr. Wong Yau Kar, 

David (note iv) 253 13 - - 266 - - 266 

 
                

Total 1,393 7,714 9,360 18 18,485 - - 18,485 
 

                

 

Notes:  

i The discretionary bonus amount represents bonus accrued and approved for the year 2017.  

ii All directors are not entitled to share awards or share options as set out in note 2(r)(iii). 

iii Resigned as non-executive director on 11 January 2018 

iv Resigned as independent non-executive director on 3 November 2017 

v Amount of approximately HK$699,000 transaction and management fee was waived  or rebated for the year 
2017. 

  



Yunfeng Financial Group Limited 
Annual Results Announcement for the Year Ended 31 December 2017 

 

81 

  
  2016  

 
Directors’ 

fees 

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind 

Discretionary  
bonus 

Contributions 
to Mandatory 

Provident 
Fund Sub-total 

Share-
based 

payments 
(note v) 

Resignation
 payment Total 

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 

Chairman         

Yu Feng  - - - - - - - - 

         
Executive 

directors         

Huang Xin  - - - - - - - - 

Li Ting  - 7,644 9,360 18 17,022 - - 17,022 
Brett McGonegal  494 - - 3 497 - 16,279 16,776 

         
Non-executive 

directors         
Ko Chun Shun, 

Johnson  300 11 - 4 315 - - 315 

Hai Olivia Ou  - - - - - - - - 

Huang Youlong - - - - - - - - 

         
Independent non-

executive 
directors         

Chu Chung Yue, 
Howard 360 18 - - 378 - - 378 

Lin Lijun 240 12 - - 252 - - 252 

Qi Daqing 209 10 - - 219 - - 219 

Liu Zhengui  75 4 - - 79 - - 79 
Dr. Wong Yau Kar, 

David 300 15 - - 315 - - 315 

 
                

Total 1,978 7,714 9,360 25 19,077 - 16,279 35,356 
 

                

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services in 
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. 

The non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors’ emoluments 
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company. 
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9 Individual with highest emoluments 

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2016: two) is a director whose 
emoluments is disclosed in note 8.  The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the 
other four (2016: three) individuals are as follows: 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 16,338 20,823 
Discretionary bonus  400 3,609 
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 

(note 1) 17,218 - 
Contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund 72 50 
 

    

 34,028 24,482 
 

    

Note 1:  These represent the estimated value of share award granted to the individuals 
under the company’s share award scheme. The value of these share awards 
are measured according to the group’s accounting policies for share-based 
payment transactions as set out in note 2(r)(iii) and, in accordance with that 
policy, includes adjustments to reverse amounts accrued in previous years 
where grants of equity instruments are forfeited prior to vesting. 

The emoluments of the five (2016: five) individuals with the highest emoluments are 
within the following bands: 
  
 Number of individuals 
 2017 2016 

   
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 - 1 
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 1 - 
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 1 - 
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 1 - 
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 - 1 
HK$13,000,001 to HK$13,500,000 - 1 
HK$16,000,001 to HK$16,500,000 1 - 
HK$16,500,001 to HK$17,000,000 - 1 
HK$17,000,001 to HK$17,500,000 1 1 
 

    

10 Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 

The consolidated loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company includes an 
approximate loss of HK$423,943,000 (2016: a loss of HK$207,430,000) which has been 
dealt with in the financial statements of the Company. 
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11 Loss per share 

(a) Basic loss per share 

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable to equity 
shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 of HK$379,054,000 
(2016: a loss of HK$316,688,000), and the weighted average number of shares in issue 
during the year ended 31 December 2017 of 2,402,313,939 (2016: 2,399,336,394).   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
   
 2017 2016 
   
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 2,399,336,394 2,399,336,394 
Effect of issue of shares under share award 

scheme  2,977,835 - 
Effect of repurchase of shares under share award 

shares  (290) - 
 

    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 
31 December 2,402,313,939 2,399,336,394 

 
    

(b) Diluted loss per share 

The calculation of diluted loss per share is based on the loss attributable to equity 
shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 of HK$379,054,000  
(2016: a loss of HK$316,688,000), and the weighted average number of shares during 
the year ended 31 December 2017 of 2,402,313,939 (2016: 2,399,336,394).   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 
   
 2017 2016 
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 

31 December 2,402,313,939 2,399,336,394 
 

    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
(diluted) at 31 December 2,402,313,939 2,399,336,394 
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12 Segment reporting 

The operating segments have been determined based on the reports reviewed by the 
executive directors of the Company that are used for performance assessment and to 
make strategic decisions.  The Group’s operating businesses are structured and 
managed separately according to the nature of their operations and the products and 
services they provide.  Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic 
business unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns that 
are different from those of other operating segments.  During the interim period ended 30 
June 2017, management decided to streamline the operation flow and regrouped the 
securities placing and underwriting segment and combined the related relevant functions 
with securities brokerage and consultancy and advisory services. With the continuous 
growth of wealth management division, management considered it to be a separate 
operating segment. To monitor and measure the return of capital more effectively, 
management further decide to review the performance of wealth management division 
and the return of Group’s capital including the capital invested in the products and funds 
managed by the wealth management segment separately going forward. 

Comparative figures in prior year have been restated to conform to the current year’s 
presentation. 

The Group currently has four operating segments: 

(i) Securities brokerage - engages in securities brokerage and provision of custodian 
and other services;  

(ii) Wealth management - provision of fund and asset management services as well as 
financing and investing solution for corporate client and  

(iii) Consultancy and advisory services - engage in provision of corporate advisory, 
placing and underwriting advisory services to corporate clients.  

(iv) Principal investment – utilize capital 1) to provide funding on developing financial 
products and the funds managed by wealth management team 2) to improve 
returns on the Group’s capital and cash flow management based on treasury 
management model that may involve (but shall not be limited to) holding fixed 
income instruments, high grade equity instruments and other financial investments.  

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those followed by 
the Group in the last annual financial statements.  

Segment revenue represents the revenue generated by each operating segment from 
external customers. Inter-segment revenue represents inter-segment services which 
were transacted with reference to the normal commercial price made to third parties at 
the then prevailing market prices. 

Segment results represent specific operating performance of the reported segments by 
allocating all specific and related operating and finance costs, excluding other corporate, 
general administrative, and financial expenses, taxation and non-operating costs.  This is 
the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker, at the relevant times, for the 
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment. 
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(a) Segment revenue and results 
      
  2017  

 
Securities 
brokerage 

Wealth  
Management 

Consultancy 
and advisory 

services 

 
Principal 

Investment Total 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Revenue from external 

parties  2,019 3,791 11,110 
 

- 16,920 
Interest from client and 

interest from loan 
receivable 39 3,719 - 

 
 

- 3,758 
Inter-segment revenue - 2,439 15,968 - 18,407 
 

          

Reportable segment 
revenue 2,058 9,949 27,078 

 
- 39,085 

Net loss on financial 
assets at fair value 
through profit or loss - (1,327) - 

 
 
 

(87,841) (89,168) 
Allocated bank and 

other interest income 551 1,072 - 
 

54,506 56,129 
Allocated other 

operating income and 
gains 2,459 187 - 

 
 

46,131 48,777 
Allocated operating 

costs (27,295) (71,527) (24,633) 
 

(6,204) (129,659) 
Allocated finance cost (442) (782) - (8,230) (9,454) 
 

          

Reportable segment 
(loss)/profit  (22,669) (62,428) 2,445 

 
(1,638) (84,290) 

Elimination of inter-
segment (loss)/profit    

 
(12,868) 

 
      

Reportable segment 
loss derived from 
group’s external 
customers    

 

(97,158) 
Unallocated revenue 

and other operating 
income and gains 
from external parties    

 

1,593 
Depreciation and 

amortisation    
 

(18,531) 
Unallocated finance 

costs    
 

(19) 
Unallocated legal and 

professional 
expenses    

 

(52,348) 
Taxation     (1,138) 
Other central 

administrative and 
unallocated operating 
costs (Note)    

 

(211,705) 
    

  
 

Loss for the year     (379,306) 

    
  

 

Note: The other central administrative and unallocated operating cost includes 
administrative expenses, research and development costs, staff costs and data 
and technology related expenses related to the Group’s financial technology 
activities. 
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  2016 (restated)  

 
Securities 
brokerage 

Wealth  
Management 

Consultancy 
and advisory 

services 

 
Principal 

Investment Total 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Revenue from 

external parties  3,819 - 42,274 
 

- 46,093 
Interest from client  27 - - - 27 
 

          

Reportable segment 
revenue 3,846 - 42,274 

 
- 46,120 

Net loss on financial 
assets at fair value 
through profit or 
loss - - - 

 
 
 

(75,688) (75,688) 
Allocated bank and 

other interest 
income - - - 

 
 

32,926 32,926 
Allocated other 

operating income 
and gains 2,056 - - 

 
- 

2,056 
Allocated operating 

costs (29,689) (18,967) (25,515) 
 

(9,356) (83,527) 
 

          

Reportable segment 
(loss)/profit  (23,787) (18,967) 16,759 

 
(52,118) (78,113) 

Elimination of inter-
segment profit    

 
- 

 
      

Reportable segment 
loss derived from 
group’s external 
customer    

 

(78,113) 
Written back for 

impairment loss of 
other receivables    

 

1,257 
Provision for 

impairment loss of 
goodwill    

 

(1,165) 
Depreciation and 

amortisation    
 

(7,992) 
Finance costs     (97) 
Unallocated legal and 

professional 
expenses    

 

(19,172) 
Taxation     8,327 
Other central 

administrative and 
unallocated 
operating costs    

 

(219,587) 
    

  
 

Loss for the year     (316,542) 
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(b) Segment assets and liabilities 

As the assets and liabilities are regularly reviewed by the executive directors of the 
Company as a whole, the measure of total assets and liabilities by operating segment is 
therefore not presented.  

(c) Geographical segment information 

The Group’s customers, operation and administration are mainly located in Hong Kong 
and research and development on financial technologies divisions are located in the 
People’s Republic of China.  

(d) Information about major customers 
   
   Revenue from major customers  
  2017 2016 
 Operating Segment HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
Customer A Wealth management 2,824 - 
Customer B Consultancy and advisory service 2,100  
 

     

The transactions with customer did not account for more than 10% of the total revenue 
of the Group for the period ended 31 December 2016.  
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13 Property and Equipment 
      

 
Leasehold 

improvements 

Office 
equipment 

and furniture 
Computers 
equipment 

Motor  
vehicles Total 

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Cost      
      
At 1 January 2016 7,067 5,410 8,697 726 21,900 
Additions 4,796 1,330 8,745 - 14,871 
Exchange alignment (193) (67) (95) - (355) 
 

          

At 31 December 2016 11,670 6,673 17,347 726 36,416 
 -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

      
At 1 January 2017 11,670 6,673 17,347 726 36,416 

Additions 3,686 1,501 1,333 - 6,520 
Disposal - - (114) - (114) 
Disposal of a subsidiary (308) (10) (23) - (341) 
Exchange alignment 418 146 169 - 733 
 

          

At 31 December 2017 15,466 8,310 18,712 726 43,214 

 -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

Accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment      

      
At 1 January 2016 1,533 2,974 3,423 40 7,970 
Charge for the year 2,706 1,001 3,147 242 7,096 
Exchange alignment (34) (11) (23) - (68) 
 

          

At 31 December 2016 4,205 3,964 6,547 282 14,998 

 
-------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

At 1 January 2017 4,205 3,964 6,547 282 14,998 

Charge for the year 4,328 1,358 4,765 242 10,693 
Impairment for the year 108 320 187 - 615 
Disposal - - (23) - (23) 
Disposal of a subsidiary (308) (9) (22) - (339) 
Exchange alignment 126 29 80 - 235 
 

          

At 31 December 2017 8,459 5,662 11,534 524 26,179 

 
-------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

Net carrying amount      
      
At 31 December 2017 7,007 2,648 7,178 202 17,035 
 

          

      
At 31 December 2016 7,465 2,709 10,800 444 21,418 

 
          



Yunfeng Financial Group Limited 
Annual Results Announcement for the Year Ended 31 December 2017 

 

89 

14 Goodwill and other intangible assets 

(a) Goodwill 
  
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Cost   
At 1 January 4,649 3,484 
Additions - 1,165 
 

    

At 31 December 4,649 4,649 
   
Accumulated impairment loss   
At 1 January (4,649) (3,484) 
Charge for the year - (1,165) 
 

    

At 31 December 4,649 (4,649) 
 

    

Carrying amount   
At 31 December - - 
 

    

The impairment loss recognised in 2016 related to the Group’s acquisition of a 
subsidiary, Youyu Capital Markets (NZ) Limited. The recoverable amount of the 
subsidiary was based on its value in use, determined by discounting the future cash 
flows to be generated from the continuing use. Management considered that it was 
uncertain for the entity to generate future cashflows. Therefore, the carrying amount was 
determined to be higher than its recoverable amount and an impairment loss of HK$ 
1,165,000 was made during 2016. The impairment loss was fully allocated to goodwill 
during the year 2016. 
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(b) Other intangible assets 
    

 
Trading 
Rights 

Club 
Membership 

Computer 
software Total 

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
At cost     
     
At 1 January 2016 6,550 - - 6,550 
Additions (Note) - 2,930 18,945 21,875 
Exchange alignment - - (21) (21) 
 

  _______________     

At 31 December 2016 
and 1 January 2017 6,550 2,930 18,924 28,404 

Additions (Note) - - 22,389 22,389 
Exchange alignment - - 34 34 
 

  _______________     

At 31 December 2017 6,550 2,930 41,347 50,827 
 

        

Accumulated 
amortisation and 
impairment     

     
At and 1 January 2016 6,000 - - 6,000 
Charge for the year - - 896 896 
Exchange alignment - - (4) (4) 
 

  ______________     

At 31 December 2016 
and 1 January 2017 

 
6,000 

 
- 892 6,892 

Charge for the year - - 7,815 7,815 
Exchange alignment - - 10 10 
 

  ______________     

At 31 December 2017 6,000 - 8,717 14,717 
 

        

Carrying amount     
     
At 31 December 2017 550 2,930 32,630 36,110 
 

        

At 31 December 2016 550 2,930 18,032 21,512 
 

        

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had three (2016: three) trading rights in The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and one (2016: one) trading 
right in the Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited (the “Futures Exchange”), of which two 
trading rights in the Stock Exchange and one trading right in the Futures Exchange were 
fully amortised as at 31 December 2010. The Group has one (2016: one) club 
membership with indefinite useful life similar to the trading rights.  

Note:  During the year, the addition of computer software amounted approximately to 
HK$22,389,000 (2016: HK$18,945,000) includes an amount of HK$20,394,000 
purchased through finance lease arrangement (note 22(c)).   
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15 Interests in subsidiaries  

(a) Details of the subsidiaries principally affected the results and assets of the Group 
     

Name of company 

Place of 
incorporation 
and business 

Particular of issued 
/registered and 

fully paid-up 
capital (note) 

Proportion of 
 ownership interest   
Group’s 
effective 
interest 

Held by 
the 

Company 
Held by a 
subsidiary 

Principal 
activities 

       
Yunfeng Asset 

Management Limited 
(formerly known as 
Cannon Investment 
Advisors (HK) Limited) 

Hong Kong 3,910,000 shares 100% - 100% Provision of  
assets  

management 
services 

       
       
Yunfeng Securities 

Limited  
Hong Kong 113,000,000 

shares  
100% - 100% Securities broking 

       
Youyu Finance Limited 

(formerly known as 
REORIENT Finance 
Limited) 

Hong Kong 1 share 100% 100% - Money lending 

       
Yunfeng Financial 

Markets Limited 
(formerly known as 
REORIENT Financial 
Markets Limited) 

Hong Kong 125,000,000  
shares 

100% 100% - Securities broking, 
securities placing 
and underwriting, 

and provision of 
consultancy and 

advisory services 
       
Youyu Global Limited 

(formerly known as 
REORIENT Global 
Limited) 

Hong Kong 1 share 100% 100% - Provision of 
administrative 

services 

       
Youyu Holdings Limited 

(formerly known as 
REORIENT Holdings 
Limited) 

Hong Kong 1 share 100% 100% - Investment holding 

       
Youyu Share Award 

Scheme Nominee 
Limited (formerly 
known as REORIENT 
Share Award Scheme 
Nominee Limited) 

Hong Kong 1,000 shares 100% 100% - Administering  
and  

holding the  
Company's  

shares for the  
Share Award  

Scheme  
       
REORIENT Financial 

Markets (USA) LLC 
USA 550,000 shares of 

US$1 each 
100% - 100% Securities broking 

       
Reorient Strategic Limited British Virgin 

Islands 
1 share of US$1 

each 
100% - 100% Investment holding 

       
       
Youyu Capital 

Management (BVI) 
Limited (formerly 
known as REORIENT 
Asset Management 
Limited) 

 

British Virgin 
Islands 

1 share of US$1 
each 

100% - 100% Investment  
holding 

Yunfeng Financial 
Services (HK) 
Company Limited 
(formerly known as 
Wise Point Holdings 
Limited) 

 
 

British Virgin 
Islands  

1 share of US$1 
each 

100% 100% - Investment  
holding 

  



Yunfeng Financial Group Limited 
Annual Results Announcement for the Year Ended 31 December 2017 

 

92 

       

   
 Proportion of 
 ownership interest   

Name of company 

Place of 
incorporation 
and business 

Particular of issued  
/registered and 

fully paid-up 
capital (note) 

Group’s 
effective 
interest 

Held by 
the 

Company 
Held by a 
subsidiary 

Principal 
activities 

       
       
Beijing Yunfeng Universal 

Investment 
Consultancy Limited 
(formerly known as 
Beijing REORIENT 
Universal Investment 
Consultancy Limited) 

PRC Registered capital  
RMB70,000,000  

Paid-up capital 
RMB41,986,648 

100% - 100% Provision of 
internet and 
multimedia 

systems and 
application 

development, 
marketing and 

promoting 
products and 

public relations 
services 

       
Shenzhen Youyu Smart 

Technologies Limited  
PRC Registered capital  

RMB100,000,000  
Paid-up capital 
RMB8,010,000 

100% - 100% Technological  
development of  

computer 
software and 

hardware, 
technical 

consulting, 
technology 

services, 
database and 

computer 
network services 

       
Majik Asset Management 

(Cayman) Limited 
Caymans 

Island 
1 share  

of US1 each 
 

- 
 

- 
 

100% 
Fund 

management 
       
Majik Cayman GP 1 

Limited 
Caymans 

Island 
1 share  

of US1 each 
 

- 
 

- 
 

100% 
Fund 

management 
       
Majik Cayman GP 2 

Limited 
Caymans 

Island 
1 share  

of US1 each 
 

- 
 

- 
 

100% 
Fund 

management 
       
Majik Cayman GP 3 

Limited 
Caymans 

Island 
1 share  

of US1 each 
 

- 
 

- 
 

100% 
Fund 

management 
       
Majik Cayman SPV 1 

Limited 
Caymans 

Island 
1 share  

of US1 each 
 

- 
 

- 
 

100% 
Investment 

holdings 
       
Majik Cayman SPV 3 

Limited 
Caymans 

Island 
Authorised capital 

US$500,000 divided into 
2,500,000 preferred shares 

and 2,500,000 ordinary 
shares. Each share is at 
US0.01 par value each.  

6,900 ordinary shares and 
265,000 preferred shares 

issued 

 
- 

 
- 

 
100% 

ordinary 
share 

Investment 
holdings 

Note:  The class of shares held is ordinary shares unless otherwise stated.  
     

   
 Proportion of 
 ownership interest   

Name of fund 

Place of 
incorporation 
and business 

Particular of 
commitment  

(note) 

Group’s 
effective 
interest 

Held by 
the 

Company 
Held by a 
subsidiary 

Principal 
activities 

       
Majik Access USD Fund 

1 L.P. 
Caymans  

Island 
US114.2 million 65.7% - 65.7% Investment 

Majik Access USD Fund 
2 L.P. 

Caymans  
Island 

US26.4 million 
 

75.8% 
 

- 
 

75.8% 
 

 
Investment 

Majik Access USD Fund 
3 L.P. 

Caymans  
Island 

US29.4 million 
 

82.5% 
 

- 
 

82.5% 
 

 
Investment 

Note:  the balance represents capital commitment being made by limited partners to the partnership.  
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 (b) Information about material non-controlling interest 

The following table lists out the information relating to Beijing Chengtong Reorient 
Investment Consultancy Limited, the only subsidiary of the Group which has material 
non-controlling interest (NCI).  The company was disposed during the year as stated in 
15(c) together with Wisdom Star Investments Limited. The summarised financial 
information presented below represents the amounts before any inter-company 
elimination.  
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
NCI percentage - 49% 
Current assets - 2,330 
Non-current assets - 2 
Current liabilities - (39) 
Non-current liabilities - - 
Net assets - 2,293 
Carrying amount of NCI - 1,106 
   
Revenue - - 
(Loss)/profit for the year (514) 299 
Total comprehensive income (431) 144 
(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI (252) 146 
Dividend paid to NCI - - 
   
Cash flows from operating activities (1,572) 166 
Cash flows from investing activities - 7 
Cash flows from financing activities - - 

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries 

(i) On date of completion 2 June 2017, the Group disposed 100% shareholding of a 
subsidiary, Profit Trigger Limited which holds certain trademarks and web-domain for the 
Group, to a company which our non-executive director, Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson 
(“Mr. Ko”) is the owner for a consideration of HK$800,000. On disposal date, the 
subsidiary had no asset nor liabilities and the Group recorded gain on disposal 
HK$800,000. From 1 January 2017 to date of disposal, the subsidiary remained dormant 
and did not contribute any profit or loss to the Group.   

(ii) On 24 February 2017, the Group has conditionally agreed to dispose Reorient Financial 
Markets (USA), LLC and Reorient USA, LLC (the “US Companies”) to a third party.  The 
transaction was terminated by the Group in November 2017.   

(iii) On 13 July 2017, the Company has agreed to dispose 100% shareholding in Wisdom 
Star Investments Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Disposal Group”) to a company 
wholly-owned by Mr. Ko, Insula Holding Limited, for a consideration of approximately 
HK$4.6 million. On the date of disposal, the consolidated net asset of Disposal Group 
net of non-controlling interest is approximately HK$1.0 million. On date of completion 11 

August 2017, the Group adjusted for the contingent consideration arising from the 
potential refund of approximately HK$3.4 million to Mr. Ko’s wholly-owned company as 
per terms disclosed in the announcement and did not record any disposal gain. The 
following table summarises the asset and liabilities disposed and consideration received 
for the Disposal Group.  
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   HK$’000 
Consideration: 
At disposal date 
Total consideration – cash   4,554 
Less: provision of potential refund   (3,451) 
 

    

   1,103 
 

    

Assets and liabilities disposed     

Property and equipment   2 
Cash and cash equivalents   758 
Other receivables, net of provisions , 

deposits and prepayments   1,162 
Accrued expenses and other payables   (58) 
 

    

Net assets   1,864 
Less: non-controlling interest   (912) 
 

    

Net assets attributable to the Group   952 
 

    

Gain on disposal    151 
Less: Reclassification of exchange 

reserve of foreign operation   (195) 
 

    

Loss on disposal   (44) 
 

    

Consideration    4,554 
Less: cash and cash equivalent of the 

subsidiaries disposal   (758) 
 

    

Net consideration received   3,796 
 

    

(iv) During the year, the total consideration received for disposal of Profit Trigger and 

Disposal Group amounted to HK$4,596,000. 

16 Interests in associates 
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
Share of net assets 714 714 
Goodwill - - 
 

    

 714 714 
Less: provision for impairment loss of interest in 
an associate (714) (714) 
 

    

 - - 
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The recoverable amount of the investment in ReOil, LLC was estimated based on its 
value in use, determined by discounting the future cash flows to be generated from the 
continuing use of the investment in ReOil, LLC. The carrying amount of the investment 
was determined to be higher than its recoverable amount and an impairment loss of 
HK$714,000 was recognised. 

17 Other non-current assets 
  
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Statutory deposits with exchanges and clearing 

house 978 934 
Rental deposits 8,038 7,984 
Other deposit for acquisition of leasehold 

improvement and equipment 144 1,258 
Other receivables 8,210 8,210 
 

    

   
Less: provision for impairment of other receivable (8,210) (8,210) 
 

    

 9,160 10,176 
 

    

   

Impairment of non-current other receivables  

Other receivable is fully impaired as the recoverability of the balance is considered 
uncertain after credit assessment performed by management.  The full provision of 
impairment for the other receivable is recognised in the consolidated income statement 
for 2016.  

The movement of the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as follows: 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
At 1 January 8,210 - 
Provision for impairment loss recognised - 8,210 
Amount written off - - 
 

    

At 31 December 8,210 8,210 
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18 Available-for-sale financial assets 
   
 2017 2016 

 HK$’000 HK$’000 

   
Available-for-sales financial assets  
   

Current unlisted and measured at fair value   

 Investment funds (note 1)  326,691 - 

 
    

   

Non-current unlisted and measured at fair value   

 Investment funds (note 2) 295,797 24,430 

 Credit link obligation note 192,721 - 

 Perpetual capital  76,989 75,423 

 
    

 565,507 99,853 

 
    

Note 1: The purchase cost of each individual investment fund investment is less than 
HK$240 million.   

Note 2: Amount of approximately HK$296 million of investment funds are held through 
fund vehicle being managed and consolidated by the Group. 

Fair value of the Group’s available-for-sale financial assets are determined in the 
manner described in note 33(f).  In the opinion of the directors of the Company, non-
current available-for-sale financial assets are not expected to be realised within one year 
from the end of the year.   
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19 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
   
 2017 2016 

 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss   

   
Investment designated at fair value through 

profit or loss   

 Equity investment listed in Hong Kong - 186,100 

 Equity investment listed outside Hong Kong 3,209 18,700 

   

Held for trading    

 Over-the-counter derivatives contract 2,727 - 
 Unlisted options issued by a Hong Kong listed 

company - 5,470 

 
    

 5,936 210,270 

 
    

20 Accounts receivable and accrued income 
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Accounts receivable arising from securities 

brokerage:   
 Cash clients 61,609 12,668 
 Margin clients 26,120 26,122 
 Clearing house, brokers, fund managers and 

dealers 10,632 9,796 
 

    

 98,361 48,586 
Accounts receivable arising from consultancy and 

advisory services 1,720 1,926 
Other service fees receivables 560 - 
 

    

 100,641 50,512 
Less : allowance for doubtful debts   
 

(26,403) (26,901) 
 

    

 74,238 23,611 
 

    

The balances of accounts receivable from consultancy and advisory services with 
accrued fees of approximately HK$1,455,000 (2016: HK$Nil) for on-going advisory 
projects which have not been billed.  

The fair value of accounts receivable approximates its carrying amount.  
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(a) Ageing analysis of accounts receivable 

The ageing analysis of accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful debts as of the 
end of the reporting period is as follows: 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   

Current 72,688 22,043 
 -------------------- -------------------- 

   
Less than 1 month past due 767 863 
1 to 3 months past due 262 95 
More than 3 months past due 521 610 
 

    

Amounts past due 1,550 1,568 

 
-------------------- -------------------- 

 74,238 23,611 
 

    

The Group has procedures and policies to assess the client’s credit quality and defines 
credit limits for each client. All client acceptance and credit limit are approved by 
designated approvers according to the client’s credit worthiness.  

(b) Accounts receivable which are past due but not impaired 

Included in the Group’s accounts receivable balance are debtors with an aggregate 
carrying amount of HK$1,550,000 (2016: HK$1,568,000) which are past due at the end 
of the reporting period for which the Group has not made provision for impairment loss. 

As of 31 December 2016, HK$154,000 from cash clients which are past due but not 
impaired represented client trades which are unsettled beyond the settlement date. No 
impairment loss was provided for these balances as either the Group held securities 
collateral for those balances with fair values in excess of the past due amounts or the 
balances have been settled subsequently. Collaterals held against such accounts 
receivable are publicly traded securities.  No such balance exists as of 31 December 
2017. 

Accounts receivable from corporate clients of HK$1,550,000 (2016: HK$1,414,000) 
which are past due but not impaired represent accounts receivable arising from provision 
of corporate finance, consultancy and advisory services which have not yet been settled 
and aged by their invoice date. No impairment loss was provided for these balances as 
these clients are trade counterparties with sound credit rating and/or reputation. 

  



Yunfeng Financial Group Limited 
Annual Results Announcement for the Year Ended 31 December 2017 

 

99 

 

(c) Impairment of accounts receivable 

The Group has a policy for allowance for doubtful debts which is based on the evaluation 
of collectability, ageing analysis of accounts and management’s judgement including the 
creditworthiness, collaterals and the past collection history of each client.  

The movement of the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as follows: 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
At 1 January 26,901 28,669 
Provision for impairment loss recognised 18 94 
Amount recovered during the year (513) - 
Amount written off (3) (1,862) 
 

    

At 31 December 26,403 26,901 
 

    

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts were individually impaired accounts 
receivable which have financial difficulties in making payments. Among the allowance for 
doubtful debts, approximately HK$26,120,000 (2016: HK$26,122,000) relates to 
individually impaired margin clients accounts receivable, HK$285,000 (2016: 
HK$267,000) relates to individually impaired accounts receivable arising from the 
business of dealing in securities and nil (2016: HK$512,000) relates to impaired 
accounts receivable from corporate clients. 

The Group ceased providing margin financing service since 2004 and the balance 
represented the past due amounts due from margin clients brought forward from 2004. 

(d) Balance with related parties 

At 31 December 2017, account receivable of HK$60,000 (2016: HK$519,000) are 
receivable from a company where Mr. Ko is a substantial shareholder. 
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21 Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 

   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
Rental and other deposits 251 665 
Prepayments 6,683 6,845 
Other receivables, net of provisions 58,718 7,514 
 

    

 65,652 15,024 
 

    

As of 31 December 2016, the other receivables amounted to HK$8,585,000 were 
individually fully impaired which have financial difficulties in making payments.  During 
the year, the related impaired other receivable is fully written off in relation to the 
Disposal Group transaction as disclosed in note 15(c).  

The fair values of other receivables, deposits and prepayments approximate their 
carrying amounts. The above balances are expected to be recovered within one year.  

22 Cash and cash equivalents and fixed bank deposits with original maturity 
over 3 months 

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
Deposits with bank 30,000 45,600 
Fixed bank deposits with original maturity less 

than 3 months 1,739,627 3,526,079 
Cash at bank and in hand 412,747 68,815 
 

    

 2,182,374 3,640,494 
 

    

As at 31 December 2017, deposits with bank amounted to HK$30 million (2016: 
HK$45.6 million) were deposits secured for banking facilities. None of these banking 
facilities are utilized. 

(b) Bank balances- trust and segregated account 

The Group maintains segregated accounts with authorised institutions to hold clients’ 
monies arising from its normal course of business of the regulated activities. The Group 
has classified the “bank balances – trust and segregated accounts” under current assets 
in the consolidated statement of financial position and recognised the corresponding 
account payables to respective clients and other institutions on the grounds that it is 
liable for any loss or misappropriation of clients’ monies. The Group is not allowed to use 
the clients’ monies to settle its own obligations. The cash held on behalf of customers is 
restricted and governed by the Securities and Futures (Client Money) Rules under the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance. As at 31 December 2017, client money maintained in 
segregated accounts amounted to HK$340,029,000 (2016: HK$358,544,000). 
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(c) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash used in operating activities: 
    
  2017 2016 
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
Loss before taxation  (378,168) (324,869) 
    
Adjustments for:    

Net loss on financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit and loss  89,168 75,688 

Net realised gain on available-for-sales 
financial assets  (14,961) - 

Dividend and distribution income from 
available-for-sale financial assets  (14,348) - 
Impairment loss of available-for-sales 

financial assets   1,980 - 
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries  (756) - 
Depreciation and amortisation  18,508 7,992 
Loss on disposal of property and 

equipment  67 - 
Impairment loss of property and 

equipment  615 - 
Finance costs  9,473 97 
Interest income  (72,476) (32,357) 
Provision for impairment loss of 

goodwill 14(a) - 1,165 
(Reversal) / provision for impairment 

loss of accounts receivable  (463) 93 
Provision for impairment loss of other 

receivable  - 8,210 
Equity-settled share-based payment 

expenses  56,713 2,084 
  

___________________ ___________________ 

  (304,648) (261,897) 
Changes in working capital:    

Increase in other non-current assets  (107) (1,683) 
Change in financial asset and financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss  349,986 368,362 

(Increase) / decrease in accounts 
receivable  (50,164) 28,850 

(Increase) / decrease in other 
receivables, deposits and 
prepayments  (52,867) 8,082 

Decrease / (increase) in bank balances 
– trust and segregated accounts  18,515 (189,008) 

Increase in accounts payable  81,898 172,838 
Increase in accrued expenses and 

other payables  39,589 6,774 
Decrease in amounts due to directors  - (149) 

  
    

Net cash generated from operating 
activities  82,202 132,169 

  
_________________ __________________ 
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 (d)  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activity: 
    

 
Preference 

shares 
Finance 

lease Total 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
    
At 1 January 2017 - 2,227 2,227 
Change from financing 

cash flow:    
Proceeds from issue of 

preference share by a 
subsidiary 206,194 - 206,194 

Payment made to 
finance lease 
obligation - (1,075) (1,075) 

 
      

Total change in 
financing cash flows 206,194 (1,075) 205,119 

New finance lease - 20,807 20,807 
Finance charge on 

finance lease 
obligation - 823 823 

Fair value change 877 - 877 
Exchange alignment - 290 290 
 

      

At 31 December 2017 207,071 23,072 230,143 
 

      

(e) Fixed bank deposits with original maturity over 3 months 

As at 31 December 2017, fixed bank deposits with original maturity more than 3 months 
amounted to HK$78.1 million (2016: Nil) were deposited as collateral for fund-linked 
note, a financial product issued by the Group, as disclosed in note 26. 

23 Accounts payable 

  
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Accounts payable   
 Cash clients 400,247 360,474 
 Clearing house, fund managers, brokers and 

dealers 52,328 10,203 
 

    

 452,575 370,677 
 

    

Included in accounts payable are amounts payable to clients and other institutions in 
respect of the trust and segregated bank balances received and held for clients and 
other institutions in the course of conducting regulated activities, which amount to 
HK$391,043,000 (2016: HK$358,469,000). 

All of the accounts payable are aged and due within one month or on demand. 
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(a) Balance with related parties 

(i) At 31 December 2017, accounts payable of approximately HK$230,000 (2016: 
HK$230,000) are payable to Mr. Ko and HK$1,746,000 (2016: HK$524,000) are 
accounts payable to the related companies where Mr. Ko are substantial 
shareholder and director. 

(ii) At 31 December 2017, accounts payable of approximately HK$18,667,000 (2016: 
nil) are payable to certain key management personnel of the Company on normal 
terms of brokerage and wealth management business of the Group. 

24 Accrued expenses and other payables 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
Accrued staff costs 33,245 41,777 
Other payables and accruals 68,645 13,706 
 

    

 101,890 55,483 
 

    

All accrued expenses and other payables are expected to be settled within one year or 
will be settled in the Group’s normal operating cycle.  

25 Employee retirement benefits - defined contribution retirement plan 

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under 
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed 
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.  The MPF scheme is a 
defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.  Under the 
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions 
to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant 
income of HK$30,000 (2016: HK$30,000).  Contributions to the plan vest immediately. 
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26 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
   

 

At 31 
December 

2017 

At 31 
December 

2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Designated at fair value through profit or loss   
   
Current   
 
Fund-linked note (note 1) 78,063 - 
 

    

 
Non – current   
   
Preference share liability (note 2) 207,071 - 
Third-party interests in consolidated funds (note 3) 156,606 - 
 

    

 363,677 - 
 

    

Note: 

(1) The amount represents a financial product secured by bank deposit with principal 
amount of US$10 million issued by the Group and the return of the product is 
linked to an underlying unlisted mutual fund. As the fund-linked note is due for 
settlement within a year from 31 December 2017, it is classified as current liability. 

(2)       The amount represents US$26.5 million proceed obtained from the issue of 265,000 
preferred shares at US$100 per share by a subsidiary of the Group with the proceed 
being used to fulfil capital contribution to a consolidated fund managed by the 
Group. The total number of preferred shares that can be issued under agreement is 
500,000 shares for a total proceed of US$50,000,000. The subsidiary is obliged to 
redeem all issued preferred shares after 5 years starting from the initial issuance 
date of the preferred shares. At liquidation, after all creditors’ claim is satisfied, the 
asset of the subsidiary should be first distributed to preference shareholders by 
redeeming all issued preferred shares together with any unpaid preferred share 
dividends.  As the preferred shares are due for settlement after more than a year 
from 31 December 2017, it is classified as a non-current liability. 

(3)   The third party interests in consolidated fund consist of third-party unit holders’ 
interest in the consolidated fund which is reflected as a liability as the fund is to be 
dissolved and return all capital to investor after 7 years starting from initial closing 
date.  As the end of term of the consolidated fund is more than a year from 31 
December 2017, it is considered as a non-current liability. 
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27 Obligation under finance lease 

At 31 December 2017, the Group had obligations under finance leases repayable as 
follows: 
 2017 2016 

 

Present 
value of the 

minimum  
lease  

payment 

Total  
minimum  

lease 
payment 

Present 
value of the 

minimum 
lease 

payment 

Total  
minimum  

lease 
payment 

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
     
Within one year 7,694 7,789 842 977 
 

        

After one but within 2 
years  4,438 4,528 907 977 

 
        

After 2 years but within  
5 years 10,940 11,951 478 489 

 
        

 23,072 24,268 2,227 2,443 
 

      

Less: finance cost  (1,196)  (216) 
 

      

Present value lease 
obligation  23,072  2,227 

 
      

28 Income tax in the statement of financial position 

(a) Current taxation in the statement of financial position represents: 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year 44,259 53,087 
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(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: 

The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and the movements during the year are as follows: 
       

 

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation Tax losses 

Net 
unrealised 

gain on 
financial 

assets at fair 
value through 
profit or loss 

Decelerated 
tax on 

expense 
incurred 

Net 
unrealised 

gain on 
available for 

sales 
financial 

instruments Total 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Deferred tax 

liabilities/(assets) 
arising from:     

 

 
       
At 1 January 2016 1,357 (14,506) 31,320 - - 18,171 
Exchange alignment - - - 24 - 24 
(Credited)/charged to 

profit or loss  (60) 13,209 (31,320) (532) 
 

- (18,703) 
 

            

At 31 December 
2016 1,297 (1,297) - 

 
(508) 

 
- (508) 

 
            

       
At 1 January 2017 1,297 (1,297) - (508)  (508) 

Exchange alignment - - - (18) - (18) 
(Credited)/charged to 

profit or loss  (470) (173) - 526 
 

- (117) 
Charged to other 

comprehensive 
income - - - - 820 820 

 
            

At 31 December 
2017 827 (1,470) - 

 
- 

 
820 177 

 
            

At 31 December 2017, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax 
losses of HK$848 million (2016: HK$627 million) to the extent that it is not probable that 
future taxable profit against which the losses can be utilised will be available subject to 
the approval of respective tax authorities in the relevant tax jurisdiction. The tax losses 
amounting to HK$835 million (2016: HK$598 million) do not expire under current tax 
legislation.  
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29 Capital, reserves and dividends 

(a) Movements in components of equity 

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the 
Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
on page 56.  Details of the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity 
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below: 

The Company 

      

 

Share 
capital 

Shares held 
by share 

award 
scheme 

Share-based 
payment  

reserve 

 
Accumulated 

losses  Total 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
      
At 1 January 2016 4,499,045 (8,042) 5,931 (82,957) 4,413,977 
      
Equity settled share-based 

transactions - - 2,084 - 2,084 
Shares vested under share 

award scheme - 7,945 (7,945) - - 
Total comprehensive income 

for the year - - - (207,430) (207,430) 
 

          

At 31 December 2016 and  
1 January 2017 4,499,045 (97) 70 (290,387) 4,208,631 

      
Share issued under share 

award scheme 129,546 (129,546) - - - 
Share repurchase under 

share award scheme - (260) - - (260) 
Equity settled share-based 

transactions - - 56,712 - 56,712 
Shares vested under share 

award scheme - 24,353 (26,039) 1,686 - 
Total comprehensive income 

for the year - - - (423,943) (423,943) 
 

          

At 31 December 2017 4,628,591 (105,550) 30,743 (712,644) 3,841,140 
 

          

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves 

(i) Share held by share award scheme and share-based payment reserve 

The Company’s shares held by Youyu Share Award Scheme Nominee Limited, 
TMF Trust (HK) Limited and Bank of Communications Trustee Limited for the 
share award schemes are presented as a deduction in equity as shares held for 
share award scheme.  

Share-based payment reserve represents the grant date fair value of 
unexercised share options granted to employees of the company that has been 
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share-based 
payments.   
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(ii) Asset revaluation reserve 

The asset revaluation reserve arose on the revaluation of the trading rights in 
the exchanges in Hong Kong in prior years. The carrying value of the trading 
rights have been fully amortised in previous years. The remaining revaluation 
reserve will be realised when the Group disposes of the trading rights. 

(iii) Exchange reserve 

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from 
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is 
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2(v). 

(iv) Statutory reserve 

Pursuant to the Company Law of the PRC, in accordance with the relevant 
subsidiary’s articles of association, 10% of the net profit of the relevant 
subsidiary, determined in accordance with the relevant accounting rules and 
financial regulations applicable to enterprises in the PRC (“PRC GAAP”), is 
required to be transferred to the statutory reserve until such time when this 
reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the subsidiary incorporated in 
PRC. The reserve appropriated can be used for expansion of business scale 
and capitalisation. If the statutory reserve is capitalised into registered capital, 
the remaining reserve is required to be no less than 25% of the subsidiary’s 
registered capital before capitalisation. 

(c) Distributability of reserves  

As at 31 December 2017, the Company did not have any reserves available for 
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated under the provisions of 
Part 6 of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) (2016: nil). 

(d) Dividend 

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: nil), nor 
has dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period. 
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(e) Share capital 

Movements of the Company’s ordinary shares are set out below: 
     
 2017 2016 

 

Number of 
shares HK$’000 

Number of 
shares HK$’000 

     
Issued and fully paid      
     
Balance brought forward 2,399,336,394 4,499,548 2,399,336,394 4,499,548 
Shares issued under share 

award scheme (note 29(a)) 23,990,000 129,546 - - 

 
        

Balance carried forward 2,423,326,394 4,629,094 2,399,336,394 4,499,548 
 

        

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to 
time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.  All ordinary 
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. 

(f) Capital management 

Capital comprises of share capital and reserves stated on the Group’s and the 
Company’s statement of financial position. The Group’s primary objectives when 
managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so 
that it can continue to provide returns for the shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders, by pricing services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing 
access to finance at a reasonable cost. 

The Company manages capital by regularly monitoring its current and expected liquidity 
requirements rather than using debt/equity analyses. Neither the Company nor its 
subsidiaries, except for Yunfeng Financial Markets Limited (“YFFM”), Yunfeng Securities 
Limited (“YFSL”) and Yunfeng Asset Management Limited (“YFAM”), is subject to 
externally imposed capital requirements. YFFM, YFSL and YFAM are regulated by the 
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) and are required to comply with certain 
minimum capital requirements according to the Securities and Futures Ordinance. 

The management monitors YFFM, YFSL and YFAM’s liquid capital daily to ensure they 
meet the minimum liquid capital requirement in accordance with the Securities and 
Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (“FRR”) adopted by the SFC. Under the FRR, RFM 
and YFSL must maintain its liquid capital in excess of HK$3 million or 5% of their total 
adjusted liabilities whichever is higher. For YFAM, it must maintain its liquid capital in 
excess of HK$100,000 or 5% of its adjusted liabilities whichever is higher. The required 
information was filed with SFC on a monthly or half yearly basis. YFFM, YFSL and 
YFAM were in compliance with the capital requirements imposed by FRR during the 
current and prior year. 
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30 Employee share-based arrangements  

  Share award scheme 

On 17 October 2014, the board of directors approved the adoption of the share award 
scheme (the “2014 Share Award Scheme”). The purpose of the 2014 Share Award 
Scheme is to (i) encourage or facilitate the holding of shares by the selected participants; 
(ii) encourage and retain such individuals to work with the Company and the Group and 
(iii) provide additional incentive for them to achieve performance goals, and the share 
award scheme took effect on 30 October 2014. The awarded shares are awarded by 
issuing new ordinary shares. Before vesting, the awarded shares are held in a trust set 
up by the scheme.  

With similar purpose of 2014 Share Award Scheme, on 12 December 2016, the board of 
directors approved the adoption of 2016 Share Award Scheme (the “2016 Share Award 
Scheme”) and the Company issue of 23,990,000 new ordinary shares of the Company to 
TMF Trust (HK) Limited to be granted to the Group A Participant (Group A Grantees) as 
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 24 January 2017. The share was 
issued at value of HK$5.4 per share.  On the other hand, the Group repurchase 48,000 
number of Company ordinary share through Bank of Communications Trustee Limited 
for share award to be granted to the Group B Participant (Group B Grantees) during the 
year with consideration of approximately HK$260,000. During the year, no 2016 share 
award was granted to Group B Grantees. 

The fair value of share award of the 2014 Share Award Scheme and 2016 Share Award 
Scheme at the date of the grant are charged to staff costs and related expenses over the 
projected vesting period being the period for which the services from the employees are 
rendered with a corresponding credit to employee share-based payment reserve. 

Upon vesting and transfer to the awardees, the related costs of the shares are credited 
to share held for share award scheme, and the related fair value of the shares are 
debited to share-based payment reserve.  
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(i) Details of the 2014 Share Award Scheme 
       

Date of approval 
by Board Date of award 

Awarded 
Sum 

Number of 
shares 
issued 

Number of 
awarded 

shares 
awarded 

Average 
fair value 
per share Vesting period 

  $’000   HK$  
       
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 11,042 3,025,206 3,025,206 3.65 31 October 2014 – 31 December 2014 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 904 247,660 247,660 3.65 31 October 2014 – 01 February 2015 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 1,298 355,667 355,667 3.65 31 October 2014 – 18 February 2015 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 1,620 443,791 443,791 3.65 31 October 2014 – 26 February 2015 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 2,731 748,345 748,345 3.65 31 October 2014 – 20 March 2015 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 562 153,968 153,968 3.65 31 October 2014 – 14 August 2015 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 3,650 1,000,000 1,000,000 3.65 31 October 2014 – 16 September 2015 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 2,835 776,666 776,666 3.65 31 October 2014 – 30 October 2015 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 1,371 375,629 375,629 3.65 31 October 2014 – 14 December 2015 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 904 247,660 247,660 3.65 31 October 2014 – 02 January 2016 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 2,732 748,345 748,345 3.65 31 October 2014 – 20 March 2016 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 562 153,968 153,968 3.65 31 October 2014 – 14 August 2016 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 3,650 1,000,000 1,000,000 3.65 31 October 2014 – 16 September 2016 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 97 26,667 26,667 3.65 31 October 2014 – 29 October 2016 
30 October 2014 31 October 2014 97 26,667 26,667 3.65 31 October 2014 – 29 October 2017 
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(ii) Details of the 2016 Share Award Scheme (to Group A Grantee) 
       

Date of approval 
by Board Date of award 

Awarded 
Sum 

Number of 
shares 
issued 

Number of 
awarded 

shares 
awarded 

Average 
fair value 
per share Vesting period 

  $’000   HK$  
       
24 January 2017 24 January 2017 26,499 5,997,500 5,047,500 5.25 24 January 2017 – 4 May 2017 
24 January 2017 24 January 2017 26,499 5,997,500 5,047,500 5.25 24 January 2017 – 4 May 2018 
24 January 2017 24 January 2017 26,499 5,997,500 5,047,500 5.25 24 January 2017 – 4 May 2019 
24 January 2017 24 January 2017 26,499 5,997,500 5,047,500 5.25 24 January 2017 – 4 May 2020 

 



Yunfeng Financial Group Limited 
Annual Results Announcement for the Year Ended 31 December 2017 

 

113 

 (iii) Details of the 2014 Share Award Scheme vested and forfeited 
      
  At 31 December 2017 At 31 December 2016 

Vesting date 

Average 
fair value 
per share 

Number 
of 

awarded 
shares 
vested 

Fair value 
of related 
awarded 

shares 

Number of 
awarded  

shares 
vested 

Fair value 
of related 
awarded 

shares 
 HK$  HK$’000  HK$’000 
      
02 Jan 2016 3.65 - - 247,660 904 
20 Mar 2016 3.65 - - 748,345 2,732 
14 Aug 2016 3.65 - - 153,968 562 
16 Sep 2016 3.65 - - 1,000,000 3,650 
29 Oct 2016 3.65 - - 26,667 97 
  

        

  - - 2,176,640 7,945 
  

        

 During the year, 26,667 awarded share of 2014 Share Award Scheme with vesting date 
on 29 October 2017 were forfeited with amount of approximately HK$97,000 measured 
at HK$3.65 per share. 

 (iv) Details of the 2016 Share Award Scheme vested, cancelled and modification of service 
condition to Group A Grantee. 

       
   At 31 December 2017 

Vesting 
date 

Average 
fair value 
per share 

Number 
of 

awarded 
shares 
vested 

Number 
of 

awarded 
shares 

cancelled 

 
 
 

Number of 
awarded 

shares 
forfeited 

Number of 
awarded 

share 
subject to 

service 
condition 

modification 

Total 
amount 

of related 
awarded 

shares 
 HK$     HK$’000 
       
4 May 2017 5.25 4,510,000 450,000 3,037,500 87,500 42,446 
  

          

  4,510,000 450,000 3,037,500 87,500 42,446 
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 (v) Movements in the number of 2014 Share Award Scheme 
   
 Number of awarded shares 

 
At 31 December 

2017 
At 31 December 

2016 
   
Outstanding at 1 January 26,667 2,203,307 
Vested - (2,176,640) 
Forfeited (26,667) - 
 

    

Outstanding at 31 December - 26,667 
 

    

(vi) Movements in the number of 2016 Share Award Scheme to Group A Grantees 
   
 Number of awarded shares 

 
At 31 December 

2017 
At 31 December 

2016 
   
Outstanding at 24 January 20,190,000 - 
Vested (4,510,000) - 
Cancelled (450,000) - 
Forfeited (3,037,500)  
 

    

Outstanding at 31 December 12,192,500 - 
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31 Commitments 

(a) Operating lease commitments 

As lessee 

As at 31 December 2017, the total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
Within one year 18,801 21,345 
After one year but within five years 5,711 23,647 
 

    

 24,512 44,992 
 

    

The Group leases a number of offices under operating leases. The leases run for an 
initial period of one to five years. None of the leases includes contingent rentals. 

(b) Other commitments 

(i) As at 31 December 2017, the Group has a total of HK$0.6 million intangible asset capital 
commitment contracted but not provided for and US$127 million other capital 
commitment (31 December 2016: US$25 million) related to third party managed funds 
with US$37 million (31 December 2016: US$3.15 million) having been contributed. 

(ii) As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 4 February 2016, Yunfeng 
Financial Market Limited (“YFM”) (formerly known as Reorient Financial Markets 
Limited), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a joint venture 
agreement with Giant Investment Co., Ltd., and Jiangsu YuWell Technology 
Development Co., Ltd. (“Jiangsu Limited”) on that day.  As disclosed in the circular of the 
Company dated 29 April 2016, the joint venture agreement was superseded and 
replaced by the amended and restated joint venture agreement entered among YFM, 
Hangzhou Dr. Herbs Electronics Commerce Company Limited and Jiangsu Limited on 
13 April 2016. Upon establishment of the joint venture company after obtaining all 
necessary approval as defined and disclosed in the circular, YFM is committed to 
contribute RMB1,290,000,000 of the registered capital of the joint venture company. 

(iii) As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 17 August 2017, the Company 
and the other investors (as the Purchasers) and MassMutual International LLC, entered 
into the Share Purchase Agreement pursuant to which the Company has conditionally 
agreed to acquire 60% of the issued share capital of MassMutual Asia Limited. The 
portion of the consideration payable by the Company is HK$7,860 million of which 
HK$5,200 million will be satisfied by the issue of an aggregate of 800,000,000 shares of 
the Company at the issue price of HK$6.50 per share representing approximately 
24.82% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the 
shares. 
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32 Interests in structured entities 

Interest in consolidated structure entities 

The Group had consolidated certain structured entities, mainly funds related to wealth 
management operation. For those structured entities where the Group is involved as 
manager or as investor, the Group assesses the extent of controlling power according to 
relevant group accounting policies. 

As at 31 December 2017, the net assets of consolidated fund entities as detailed in note 
15 amounted to HK$574 million with net carrying interest held by the Group being 
HK$417 million. 

Interests held by other investors in these consolidated structured entities, mainly fund 
entities were classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss of the 
consolidated statements of financial position with fair value change of financial liability at 
fair value through profit or loss presented in the consolidated income statements. 

At year end, the Group reassessed the control of structured entities and decided whether 
the Group is still a principal. 

Interest in unconsolidated structure entities  

Among those structured entities held by the Group where the Group directly or indirectly 
involves as investment manager or in equivalent capacity, the Group regularly assesses 
and determines whether:  

• the Group is acting as an agent or a principal in these investment funds;  

• substantive removal rights held by other parties may remove the Group as an 
investment fund manager; and  

• the investment interests held together with its remuneration from servicing and 
managing these structured entities create significant exposure to variability of returns in 
these investment funds 

In the opinion of the directors, the variable returns that the Group to these structured 
entities is not significant and the Group is primarily acting as an agent. Therefore, the 
Group did not consolidate these structured entities. 

The Group classified its investment in those unconsolidated entities as available-for-sale 
investments with minimal loss exposure due to small investment amount involved. 
During the year, the amount of management fee income from the unconsolidated 
structured entity managed by the Group was approximately HK$340,000.  
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33 Financial risk management and fair value of financial instrument 

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risks arises in the normal 
course of the Group’s business.  The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial 
risk management policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are 
described below. 

(a) Credit risk 

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to accounts and other receivables and 
bank balances (segregated and general accounts). Management has a credit policy in 
place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. 

In respect of accounts and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed 
on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount.  These evaluations focus on the 
customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and 
take into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the 
economic environment in which the customer operates. 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics 
of each customer rather than the industry or country in which the customers operate and 
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has 
significant exposure to individual customers.  At the end of the year, amount of 
HK$493,000 (2016: nil of the total account and other receivables) accounts and other 
receivables was due from the five largest customers respectively. 

Bank balances (segregated and general accounts) are placed with high-credit-quality 
institutions and management considers that the credit risk for such is minimal. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral held is 
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement 
of financial position after deducting any impairment allowance. The Group does not 
provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk. 

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising 
from accounts receivable are set out in note 20. 

(b) Liquidity risk 

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash 
management, including the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, and to 
ensure compliance with FRR. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity 
requirement and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains 
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial 
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term. 
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The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting 
period of the Group and the Company’s financial liabilities, which are based on 
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using 
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) 
and the earliest date the Group and the Company, as applicable, can be required to pay: 
    

 
Contractual undiscounted  

cash outflow  

     

 

Within 1 
year or on 

demand 

More than 
1 year but 

within 
5 year Total 

Carrying 
amount at 

31 
December 

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
As at 31 December 2017     
     

Accounts payable 452,575 - 452,575 452,575 
Accrued expenses and 

other payables  101,890 - 101,890 101,890 
Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or 
loss 78,063 363,677 441,740 441,740 

Finance lease liability 7,789 16,479 24,268 23,072 
 

        

 640,317 380,156 1,020,473 1,019,277 
 

        

 
    

 
Contractual undiscounted  

cash outflow  

     

 

Within 1 
year or on 

demand 

More than 1 
year but 

within 
5 year Total 

Carrying 
amount at 

31 
December 

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
As at 31 December 2016     
     

Accounts payable 370,677 - 370,677 370,677 
Accrued expenses and 

other payables  55,483 - 55,483 55,483 
Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or 
loss - - - - 

Finance lease liability 977 1,466 2,443 2,227 
 

        

 427,137 1,466 428,603 428,387 
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(c) Interest rate risk 

The Group’s exposure to cashflow interest rate risk is mainly attributable to its bank 
balances (trust, segregated and general accounts). The Group’s fair value interest rate 
risk relates primarily to fixed-rate overdue accounts receivable and fixed deposits held 
under bank balance – trust and segregated accounts.   

The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy. The management 
monitors the Group’s exposure on an ongoing basis and will consider hedging interest 
rate risk should the need arise. 

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group is not exposed to cash flow interest rate 
risk with all the financial instruments is carried at nil or fixed interest rate.  Therefore, no 
sensitivity analysis is performed on cash flow interest rate risk.  As most of the financial 
instruments on nil or fixed interest rate having relatively short maturity, the Group is not 
exposed to material fair vale interest rate risk. 

(d) Foreign currency risk 

The Group has assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than its functional 
currency and that are subject to fluctuation in foreign exchange amounts in the different 
currencies. The Group is exposed to currency risk arising from various currency 
exposures, mainly to the extent of its and bank balances in currencies such as the USD 
and Renminbi. Management of the Group monitors the foreign exchange exposure and 
will hedge significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise. 

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group did not engage in the use of other 
financial instruments for hedging purposes, and there were no hedging instruments 
outstanding as at 31 December 2017. 
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(i) Exposure to currency risk 

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to 
currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency 
other than the Group’s functional currency of Hong Kong dollars.  For presentation 
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are expressed in Hong Kong dollars. 
        
  2017  

 
United 
States Japanese China Australian 

United 
Kingdom Singapore Canadian 

  Dollars Yen Renminbi Dollars Sterling Dollars Dollars 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
        
Accounts and other 

receivables 36,382 - - - - - - 
Bank balance - trust and 

segregated accounts 168,881 - 412 140 67 14 14 
Cash and cash equivalents 3,033,375 - 17,676 - - - - 
Accounts and other 

payables (186,584) - (388) (109) (67) (14) (14) 
 

              

Net exposure to currency 
risk 3,052,054 - 17,700 31 - - - 

 
---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- 

 
        
  2016  

 
United 
States Japanese China Australian 

United 
Kingdom Singapore Canadian 

  Dollars Yen Renminbi Dollars Sterling Dollars Dollars 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
        
Accounts and other 

receivables 9,792 - - - 1 1 1 
Bank balance - trust and 

segregated accounts 1,526 - 17 123 46 7  
Cash and cash equivalents 1,947,715 1 13,397 4 - - 18 
Accounts and other 

payables (1,422) - (17) (99) (46) (7) (18) 
 

              

Net exposure to currency 
risk 1,957,611 1 13,397 28 1 1 1 

 
---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- 
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(ii) Sensitivity analysis 

The Group’s significant net exposure to Renminbi and United States Dollars at the 
reporting date and the estimated impact to the Group’s profit/(loss) for the year had the 
foreign exchange rates of Renminbi and United States Dollars changed at that date are 
illustrated below.  In this respect, it is assumed that the linked exchange rate between 
the HKD and the USD would remain unchanged and therefore, fluctuate between lower 
limit of HKD7.75 to USD1 and upper limit of HKD7.85 to USD1. 
       
   
  2017   2016  

 

Net assets
 in foreign 

currency 

Appreciation/ 
(depreciation) 

in foreign 
currency 

Effect on 
profit after 

tax and 
retained 

profits 

Net assets 
in foreign 
currency 

Appreciation/ 
(depreciation) 

in foreign 
currency 

Effect on 
profit after 

tax and 
retained 

profits 
 HK$’000 % HK$’000 HK$’000 % HK$’000 
       
       
Renminbi 17,700 10 1,478 13,397 10 1,119 
  (10) (1,478)  (10) (1,119) 
       
United States 

dollars 3,052,054 0.5 11,741 1,957,611 1.2 19,896 
  (0.8) (20,872)  (0.1) (1,810) 

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been 
applied to re-measure those financial instruments which expose the Group to foreign 
currency risk at the reporting period.  The analysis is performed on the same basis for 
2016. 

(e) Equity price risk 

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity investments and 
derivative instruments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(see note 19) held by the Group. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value 
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are dealt with in consolidated 
income statement. For private credit funds, credit-linked note and distressed investment 
fund and perpetual capital classified as available-for-sale financial assets (see note 18), 
the Group relied on recent price of the investment, net asset value statement provided 
by the fund managers and broker quote and therefore considered not meaningful to 
present sensitivity analysis for those investments.  The performance is monitored 
regularly, together with an assessment of its relevance to the Group’s strategic plans.  

The unlisted fund option is quoted by third party fund manager and the fund-linked note 
is valued by our Group with reference to the unlisted fund option value. At 31 December 
2017, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of 2% in the underlying fund of the 
unlisted fund option, 10% (2016: 10%) listed price of overseas equity share, 3% in credit-
linked note quoted price, 10% in net asset value of private fund investment and 10%  
quoted price of mutual funds by the Group, with all other variables held constant, would 
have increased/decreased the Group’s profit after tax (and retained earnings) and other 
comprehensive income after tax (and fair value reserve) as follows: 
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  2017   2016  

Change in the relevant equity 
price risk variable:  

Effect on profit 
after tax and  

retained profit  

Effect on profit  
after tax and  

retained profit 
 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 
Unlisted fund option     
Increase 2 3,765  N/A 
Decrease (2) (2,071)  N/A 
     
Fund-linked note     
Increase 2 (1,975)  N/A 
Decrease (2) 228  N/A 
     
Listed share     
Increase 10 321 10 1,870 
Decrease (10) (321) (10) (1,870) 
     
Preference share liability     
Increase 10 -  N/A 
Decrease (10) -  N/A 
     
Third party interest in consolidated 
fund     
Increase Note (11,138)  N/A 
Decrease Note 11,138  N/A 
 
Note: weighted average of price change impact of the underlying asset 
   
  2017   2016  

Change in the relevant equity 
price risk variable:  

Effect on other 
comprehensive 

income after   
tax and  

fair value 
reserve  

Effect on other 
comprehensive 

income after   
tax and  

fair value 
reserve 

 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 
Mutual fund     
Increase 10 27,259  N/A 
Decrease (10) (27,259)  N/A 
     
Private funds     
Increase 10 29,580  N/A 
Decrease (10) (29,580)  N/A 
     
Credit linked note     
Increase 3 5,782  N/A 
Decrease (3) (5,782)  N/A 
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(f) Fair value measurement 

Financial instrument measured at fair value  

(i) Fair value hierarchy 

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial instrument measured 
at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level 
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into 
which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the 
observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows: 

 Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement 
date. 

 Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs 
which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. 
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not available. 

 Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs. 
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The table below analyses financial instrument carried at fair value, by fair value 
hierarchy: 
     

 

Fair value measurements as at 
31 December 2017 categorised 

into 
Fair value measurements as at  

31 December 2016 categorised into 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Recurring fair value 

measurement  
 

    
Assets/(liability)       
Financial asset 

designated at fair 
value through profit or 
loss:  

 

    
 Listed equity 3,209 - - 204,800 - - 

Held for trading:       
 Unlisted 

fund/share option - 
 

2,727 - - 5,470 - 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets  
 

    
Overseas 

investment funds  
 

    
 Mutual fund 

investments 326,691 
 

- - - - - 
 Private credit 

funds  - 
 

- 
 

293,554 - - 24,430 
 Distressed asset 

funds - 
 

- 
 

2,243    
Credit linked 

obligation note - 
 

- 192,721 - - - 
Perpetual capital 

measured at fair 
value - 

 
 

76,989 - - 75,423 - 
Financial liabilities at 

fair value through 
profit or loss  

 

    
 Fund-linked note - (78,063) - - - - 
 Preference share 

liability - 
 

- 
 

(207,071) - - - 
 Third-party 

interests in 
consolidated 
funds - 

 
 

- 

 
 

(156,606) 
- - - 

 
            

 329,900 1,653 124,841 204,800 80,893 24,430 
 

            

 
   

 
  

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. 
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at 
the end of the year in which they occur.  
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 (ii) Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value measurements 

The Group determines the fair value of unlisted fund option based on broker’s quote and 
the risk management team carries out independent assessment using option valuation 
model technique such as the Black-Scholes Option-Pricing model and appropriate 
assumptions including the underlying fund price for the option pricing reasonableness 
assessment. With reference to the quoted fair value of the unlisted fund option fund-
linked note, the Group further determines the fair value of the fund-linked note. The 
Group determines the fair value of perpetual capital by making reference to the brokers’ 
quote as there is over-the-counter markets for such financial instrument. For mutual 
funds, the Group determines the fair values based on the redeemable price quoted by 
fund manager.   

 (iii) Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair value measurements 
 
The Group has determined that the fair value of private debt securities investment fund 
and distressed fund based on the net asset value attributable to the Group determined 
by the respective fund managers. If such net asset value attributable to the Group is not 
yet readily available, adjustments to the fair value of the funds are made based on the 
latest net asset value with adjustments based on subsequent contribution made and 
distribution received by the Group.  Regarding to credit link obligation note investment, 
the Group has determined the fair value based on valuation model and price quote 
provided by the arranger of the note with ongoing monitoring of our investment 
committee and risk management team in conjunction with additional information 
compiled by portfolio manager including performance and covenant compliance 
information as provided by the independent trustee. For the fund-linked note, the Group 
determined the fair value of the note based on the principal repayment terms, underlying 
reference fund price and option pricing model with appropriate assumptions.  

The reconciliation of financial assets and liabilities under Level 3 fair value 
measurements is as follows: 

Available-for-sales investment 

 

At 31 
December 

2017 

At 31 
December 

2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
At 1 January 24,430 - 
Purchase/contribution made  453,533 24,430 
Disposal - - 
Exchange alignment 1,685 - 
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss (1,980)  
Net unrealised gain recognised in other comprehensive 

income  
 

10,850 - 
 

    

At 31 December  488,518 24,430 
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 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 

 

 

At 31 
December 

2017 

At 31 
December 

2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
At 1 January - - 
Share issued /contribution received  354,960 - 
Settled/ distribution  - - 
Exchange alignment 1,091 - 
Fair value change recoginsed in profit or loss 7,626 - 
 

    

At 31 December  363,677 - 
 

    

 

Information about level 3 investment 

 

Unlisted available-for-sale 
investment 

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs  

Credit linked obligation note Price quote Price quote  
 

Private credit funds and 
distressed funds Net asset value Net asset value  

Preference share liability Discounted cashflow 

 
Expected distribution from  

underlying fund investment per 
 annum and net asset value of  

underlying fund investment  

    
Third-party interests in 

consolidated funds Net asset value Net asset value  

As at 31 December 2017, the fair value of level 3 unlisted available-for-sale financial 
assets including private credit funds and distressed funds, preference share liability and 
third party interest in consolidated fund are measured based on the net asset value 
provided by underlying fund manager.  Regarding to the credit linked obligation note, 
management determines the fair value mainly based on the price quote provided by the 
arranger. The sensitivity analysis is presented in note (e). 
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(g) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 

(i) Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements or similar 
agreements 
      
  As at 31 December 2017  

   

Related amounts not 
offset in the 

consolidated statement 
of financial position  

 

Gross 
amount of 

recognised 
financial 

assets 

Gross 
amount of 

recognised 
financial 
liabilities 

offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Net amount 
of financial 

assets 
presented  

in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Cash 
collateral 
received Net amount 

Type of financial assets HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
 

          

Accounts receivable due from 
clearing house 8,731 (8,731) - - - 

 
          

 
      
  As at 31 December 2016  

   

Related amounts not offset 
in the consolidated 

statement of financial 
position  

 

Gross 
amount of 

recognised 
financial 

assets 

Gross 
amount of 

recognised 
financial 
liabilities 

offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Net amount 
of financial 

assets 
presented  

in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Cash 
collateral 
received Net amount 

Type of financial assets HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
 

          

Accounts receivable due from 
clearing house 2,012 (2,012) - - - 
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(ii) Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements or 
similar agreements 
      
  As at 31 December 2017  

   

Related amounts not 
offset in the 
consolidated 

statement of financial  
position  

 

Gross 
amount of 

recognised 
financial 
liabilities 

Gross 
amount of 

recognised 
financial 

assets offset 
in the 

consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Net amount 
of financial 

liabilities 
presented in 

the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Collateral 
pledged Net amount 

Type of financial liabilities  HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
 

          

Accounts payable due to 
clearing house 60,051 (8,731) 51,320 3,958 47,362 

 
          

 
      
  As at 31 December 2016  

   

Related amounts not offset 
in the consolidated 

statement of financial  
position  

 

Gross amount 
of recognised 

financial 
liabilities 

Gross amount 
of recognised 

financial 
assets offset 

in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Net amount of 
financial 
liabilities 

presented in 
the 

consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Collateral 
pledged Net amount 

Type of financial liabilities  HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
 

          

Accounts payable due to clearing 
house 12,215 (2,012) 10,203 - 10,203 
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(iii) The tables below reconcile the “net amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position”, as set out above, to the 
accounts receivable and accounts payable presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
Net amount of financial assets after offsetting as 

stated above - - 
Financial assets not in scope of offsetting 

disclosure 100,641 50,513 
Impairment losses (26,403) (26,902) 
 

    

 74,238 23,611 
 

    

Net amount of financial liabilities after offsetting as 
stated above 51,320 10,203 

Financial liabilities not in scope of offsetting 
disclosure 401,255 360,474 

 
    

 452,575 370,677 
 

    

34 Contingent liabilities 

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2017 and 
2016. 

35 Material related party transactions 

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial 
statements, the Group entered into the following material related party transactions. 

(a) Key management personnel remuneration 

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group is as follows: 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   

Short-term benefits 33,789 48,725 
Post-employment benefits - - 
Equity compensation benefits 14,667 - 
 

    

 48,456 48,725 
 

    

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 6(a)).  

During the year, amount of approximately HK$763,000 transaction and management fee  
related to key management personnel’s securities brokerage and wealth management 
transaction is waived by the Group. 
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(b) Other transactions with related parties 
   
 2017 2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 
   
Brokerage fee income (note (i)) 243 349 
Advisory fee income (note (ii)) 2,750 29,984 
Interest expense (note (iii)) 107 - 
 

    

   
 

  

Note:  

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group provided brokerage services 
to (i) a company where our independent non-executive director, Dr. Wong Yau Kar, 
David, GBS, JP, is an independent non-executive director; and (ii) a company 
where Mr. Ko is a substantial shareholder and an executive director; and (iii) a 
company where our chairman, Mr. Yu Feng (“Mr. Yu”) is a director and substantial 
shareholder. 

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group provided brokerage services 
to (i) a company where our independent non-executive director, Dr. Wong Yau Kar, 
David, GBS, JP, is an independent non-executive director; and (ii) a company 
where Mr. Ko is a substantial shareholder and an executive director; and (iii) a 
company where Mr. Ko is a director and substantial shareholder. 

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group provided advisory services to 
(i) a company where our executive director, Mr. Huang Xin (“Mr. Huang”), is the 
chairman; (ii) a company where Mr. Ko is a substantial shareholder; (iii) a company 
where Dr. Wong Yau Kar, David, GBS, JP, is an independent non-executive 
director.   

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group provided advisory services to 
(i) a company where our chairman, Mr. Yu Feng (“Mr. Yu”), is a substantial 
shareholder and our independent non-executive director, Dr. Wong Yau Kar, David, 
GBS, JP, is an independent non-executive director of this company; (ii) two 
companies where Mr. Ko is a substantial shareholder and an executive director; (iii) 
a company where Mr. Yu is a director; and (iv) companies where Mr. Ko is a 
substantial shareholder.  

(iii) During the year, the Group incurred interest expense for cash custodian 
transactions with key management personnel. 

(iv) As of 31 December 2017, amount of US$1.65 million investment commitment is 
made by key management personnel to the funds managed by the Group. 
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36 Company-level statement of financial position 
    
 Note 2017 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
Non-current assets    
    
Interests in subsidiaries  1,009,119 180,695 
  

    

Total non-current assets  1,009,119 180,695 
  -------------------- -------------------- 

Current assets    
    
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss  - 59,256 
Other receivable and prepayment  46,677 6,766 
Fixed bank deposits with original 

maturity more than 3 months  1,505,766 - 
Cash and cash equivalents  1,329,331 3,961,917 
  

    

Total current assets  2,881,774 4,027,939 
  -------------------- -------------------- 

Current liabilities    
    
Accrued expenses and other payables  49,753 3 
  

    

Total current liabilities  49,753 3 

  
-------------------- -------------------- 

Net current assets  2,832,021 4,027,936 

  
-------------------- -------------------- 

NET ASSETS  3,841,140 4,208,631 
  

    

EQUITY    
    
Share capital  29(a) 4,628,591 4,499,045 
Reserves 29(a) (787,451) (290,414) 
  

    

TOTAL EQUITY  3,841,140 4,208,631 
  

    

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 29 March 2018 and are signed on its 
behalf by: 

 
  
  
  
  

Li Ting Huang Xin 
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer Executive Director 
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37 Immediate and ultimate holding company 

At 31 December 2017, the directors consider the immediate parent and ultimate holding 
company of the Company to be Yunfeng Financial Holdings Limited which is 
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and beneficially owned as to 29.85% and 70.15% by 
Mr. Ma Yun and Mr. Yu Feng, respectively. Yunfeng Financial Holdings Limited does not 
produce financial statements available for public use. 

38 Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued 
but not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2017 

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a few 
amendments/new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 
2017 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements.  These include the 
following which may be relevant to the Group. 
  
 Effective for 

accounting periods 
beginning on or after 

  
HKFRS 9, Financial instruments  1 January 2018  
  
HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2018 
  
Amendments to HKFRS 2, Share-based payment: Classification 
and measurement of share-based payment transactions 

1 January 2018 

  
Amendments to HKAS 40, Investment property: Transfers of 
investment property 

1 January 2018 

  
HK(IFRIC) 22, Foreign currency transactions and advance 
consideration 

1 January 2018 

  
HKFRS 16, Leases  1 January 2019  

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these 
amendments, new standards and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial 
application.  So far the group has identified some aspects of the new standards which 
may have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.  Further details 
of the expected impacts are discussed below.  While the assessment has been 
substantially completed for HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15, the actual impacts upon the initial 
adoption of the standards may differ as the assessment completed to date is based on 
the information currently available to the Group, and further impacts may be identified 
before the standards are initially applied in the Group’s interim financial report for the six 
months ended 30 June 2018.  The Group may also change its accounting policy 
elections, including the transition options, until the standards are initially applied in that 
financial report.  
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HKFRS 9, Financial instruments 

HKFRS 9 will replace the current standard on accounting for financial instruments, HKAS 
39, Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement.  HKFRS 9 introduces new 
requirements for classification and measurement of financial assets, including the 
measurement of impairment for financial assets and hedge accounting.  On the other 
hand, HKFRS 9 incorporates without substantive changes the requirements of HKAS 39 
for recognition and derecognition of financial instruments and the classification and 
measurement of financial liabilities.   

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 on a 
retrospective basis.   

Expected impacts of the new requirements on the group’s financial statements are as 
follows: 

(a) Classification and measurement 

HKFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: 
measured at (1) amortised cost, (2) fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and 
(3) fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

 The classification for debt instruments is determined based on the entity’s 
business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of the asset.  If a debt instrument is classified as FVTOCI 
then interest revenue, impairment and gains/losses on disposal will be 
recognised in profit or loss. 

 For equity securities, the classification is FVTPL regardless of the entity’s 
business model.  The only exception is if the equity security is not held for 
trading and the entity irrevocably elects to designate that security as FVTOCI.  
If an equity security is designated as FVTOCI then only dividend income on 
that security will be recognised in profit or loss.  Gains, losses and 
impairments on that security will be recognised in other comprehensive 
income without recycling. 

The Group has assessed that its financial assets currently measured at amortised 
cost and FVTPL will continue with their respective classification and measurements 
upon the adoption of HKFRS 9. 
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With respect to the Group’s financial assets currently classified as “available-for-
sale”, these are investments in funds and debt instruments which the Group is 
required to reclassify the investment at FVTPL.  The Group will recognise any fair 
value changes in respect of these investments in profit or loss as they arise.  This 
will give rise to a change in accounting policy as currently the Group recognises the 
fair value changes of available-for-sale equity investments in other comprehensive 
income until disposal or impairment, when gains or losses are recycled to profit or 
loss in accordance with the Group’s policies set out in notes 2(m).  This change in 
policy will have no impact on the Group’s net assets and total comprehensive 
income, but will increase volatility in profit or loss.  Upon the initial adoption of 
HKFRS 9, fair value gains of HK$14,318,000 related to the available-for-sale 
investments will be transferred from the fair value reserve to retained profits at 1 
January 2018.  

The classification and measurement requirements for financial liabilities under 
HKFRS 9 are largely unchanged from HKAS 39, except that HKFRS 9 requires the 
fair value change of a financial liability designated at FVTPL that is attributable to 
changes of that financial liability’s credit risk to be recognised in other 
comprehensive income (without reclassification to profit or loss).  As the financial 
liabilities designated at FVTPL are either collateralised or arising from consolidated 
fund products with substantial asset backing, the related credit risk of those 
liabilities with substantial asset backing is considered not material and, therefore, 

management does not expected to have material financial impact to the Group.  

(b) Impairment 

The new impairment model in HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in 
HKAS 39 with an “expected credit loss” model.  Under the expected credit loss 
model, it will no longer be necessary for a loss event to occur before an impairment 
loss is recognised.  Instead, an entity is required to recognise and measure either a 
12-month expected credit loss or a lifetime expected credit loss, depending on the 
asset and the facts and circumstances.  The Group expects that the application of 
the expected credit loss model will result in earlier recognition of credit losses.  
Based on a preliminary assessment, if the Group were to adopt the new 
impairment requirements at 31 December 2017, no material impairment loss at that 
date would be recognised as compared with that recognised under HKAS 39 given 
most of financial instrument carried at amortised cost are either placed with bank 
with high credit rating or counterparties with strong credit background and 
settlement history.    As a consequence, no material adjustment is expected to be 
made to the opening balances of net assets and retained profits at 1 January 2018. 

(c) Hedge accounting 

HKFRS 9 does not fundamentally change the requirements relating to measuring 
and recognising ineffectiveness under HKAS 39.  However, greater flexibility has 
been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting.  Further, 
the Group has currently has no hedge relationships will qualify as continuing 
hedges upon the adoption of HKFRS 9 and therefore it expects there will not be 
significantly impacted.  
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HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers 

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for recognising revenue from 
contracts with customers.  HKFRS 15 will replace the existing revenue standards, HKAS 
18, Revenue, which covers revenue arising from sale of goods and rendering of 
services, and HKAS 11, Construction contracts, which specifies the accounting for 
revenue from construction contracts.   

Based on the assessment completed to date, the Group has identified the following 
areas which are expected to be affected: 

(a) Timing of revenue recognition  

The Group’s revenue recognition policies are disclosed in note 2(u). Currently, 
revenue arising from construction contracts and the provision of services is 
recognised over time, whereas revenue from the sale of goods is generally 
recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the 
customers.   

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the customer obtains control of the 
promised good or service in the contract.  HKFRS 15 identifies 3 situations in which 
control of the promised good or service is regarded as being transferred over time: 

(i) When the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits 
provided by the entity’s performance, as the entity performs; 

(ii) When the entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example 
work in progress) that the customer controls as the asset is created or 
enhanced;  

(iii) When the entity’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative 
use to the entity and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for 
performance completed to date. 

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall into any of these 3 
situations, then under HKFRS 15 the entity recognises revenue for the sale of that 
good or service at a single point in time, being when control has passed.  Transfer 
of risks and rewards of ownership is only one of the indicators that will be 
considered in determining when the transfer of control occurs. The Group has 
assessed that the new revenue standard is not likely to have significant impact on 
how it recognises revenue from corporate consultancy service agreement and 
other financial service contracts. 
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HKFRS 16, Leases 

As disclosed in note 2(h), currently the Group classifies leases into finance leases and 
operating leases and accounts for the lease arrangements differently, depending on the 
classification of the lease.  The Group enters into some leases as the lessor and others 
as the lessee.  

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that lessors account for 
their rights and obligations under a lease.  However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted, 
lessees will no longer distinguish between finance leases and operating leases.  Instead, 
subject to practical expedients, lessees will account for all leases in a similar way to 
current finance lease accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the lease the lessee 
will recognise and measure a lease liability at the present value of the minimum future 
lease payments and will recognise a corresponding “right-of-use” asset.  After initial 
recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee will recognise interest expense accrued 
on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use 
asset, instead of the current policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under 
operating leases on a systematic basis over the lease term.  As a practical expedient, 
the lessee can elect not to apply this accounting model to short-term leases (i.e. where 
the lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases of low-value assets, in which case the 
rental expenses would continue to be recognised on a systematic basis over the lease 
term.   

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a lessee of leases for 
properties, plant and equipment which are currently classified as operating leases. The 
application of the new accounting model is expected to lead to an increase in both 
assets and liabilities and to impact on the timing of the expense recognition in the 
statement of profit or loss over the period of the lease.  As disclosed in note 31, at 31 
December 2017 the Group entered certain future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases, the majority of which is payable between 1 and 5 years 
after the reporting date.  Some of these amounts may therefore need to be recognised 
as lease liabilities, with corresponding right-of-use assets, once HKFRS 16 is adopted.  
The Group will need to perform a more detailed analysis to determine the amounts of 
new assets and liabilities arising from operating lease commitments on adoption of 
HKFRS 16, after taking into account the applicability of the practical expedient and 
adjusting for any leases entered into or terminated between now and the adoption of 
HKFRS 16 and the effects of discounting.   

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.  The 
standard offers different transition options and practical expedients, including the 
practical expedient to grandfather the previous assessment of which existing 
arrangements are, or contain, leases.  If this practical expedient is chosen, the Group will 
apply the new definition of a lease in HKFRS 16 only to contracts that are entered into 
on or after the date of initial application.  If the practical expedient is not chosen, the 
Group will need to reassess all of its decisions about which existing contracts are, or 
contain, leases, using the new definition.  Depending on whether the Group elects to 
adopt the standard retrospectively or follow a modified retrospective method of 
recognising a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of equity at the date 
of initial application, the Group may or may not need to restate comparative information 
for any changes in accounting resulting from the reassessment. 

Currently the Group accounts for certain procurement contracts as lease arrangement 
and classified it as finance leases.  The Group has not yet decided which transition 
approach to be taken.   
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39 COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

Proceeds from interest income from client is reclassified from investing activity to 
operating activity in the consolidated statement of cash flows and certain disclosure in 
relation to impairment losses in the notes to the consolidated financial statements are 
adjusted to conform to current year presentation.  

40 NON-ADJUSTING EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 10 January 2018, the 
Company has obtained the necessary approval from shareholders to proceed with the 
transaction to acquire 60% of the issued share capital of MassMutual Asia Limited. 

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 26 January 2018, 950,000 
2016 share award shares were granted to Pool B grantee at fair value HK$6.09 per 
share. 

On 28 February 2018, the Group has entered a strategic fund management agreement 
with another well-established financial institution. By sharing the operating and financing 
decision making power through the agreement, the Group is considered no longer being 
principal of the related fund and the fund is expected to be deconsolidated. 

41 SCOPE OF WORK OF KPMG 

The financial figures in respect of the Group’s consolidated statement of financial 
position, consolidated income statement and other comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and the related 
notes thereto for the year ended 31 December 2017 as set out in the preliminary 
announcement have been compared by the Group’s auditor, KPMG, Certified Public 
Accountants, to the amounts set out in the Group’s draft consolidated financial 
statements for the year and the amounts were found to be in agreement.  The work 
performed by KPMG in this respect did not constitute an audit, review or other assurance 
engagement in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing, Hong Kong 
Standards on Review Engagements or Hong Kong Standards on Assurance 
Engagements issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and 
consequently no assurance has been expressed by KPMG. 
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Five Year Financial Summary 
      
 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
RESULTS      
      
Revenue 21,064 46,120 193,967 133,370 77,516 

 

          

Profit/(loss) before taxation (378,168) (324,869) (77,869) 759,327 (87,360) 
Taxation (1,138) 8,327 (79,172) (450) - 
 

          

Profit/(loss) for the year  (379,306) (316,542) (157,041) 758,877 (87,360) 
 

          

Basic (loss)/earnings per share 
(HK$) (0.16) (0.13) (0.21) 1.73 (0.22) 

 
          

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES      
      
Property and equipment 17,035 21,418 13,930 5,289 6,247 
Goodwill and intangible assets 36,110 21,512 550 550 550 
Interest in associates - - - 27,311 33,076 
Non-current financial assets at 

fair value through profit or 
loss - - - 556,427 - 

Non-current available for sale 
financial assets 565,507 99,853 - - - 

Other non-current assets 9,160 10,684 15,260 8,856 805 
Net current assets 3,890,752 4,292,041 4,749,774 422,468 120,391 
Non-current liabilities (379,232) (1,385) (18,171) - - 
 

          

 4,139,332 4,444,123 4,761,343 1,020,901 161,069 
 

          

Share capital 4,629,094 4,499,548 4,499,548 614,919 498,231 
Reserves (489,762) (56,532) 260,759 400,015 (343,184) 
 

          

 4,139,332 4,443,016 4,760,307 1,014,934 155,047 
Non-controlling interests - 1,107 1,036 5,967 6,022 
 

          

Total equity 4,139,332 4,444,123 4,761,343 1,020,901 161,069 
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By Order of the Board 
Yunfeng Financial Group Limited 

Li Ting 
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer 

 

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018 
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Mr. Qi Daqing and Mr. Chu Chung Yue, Howard (who are independent non-executive directors). 

 


